
 

 
 

Scan the code above or visit www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings 
for a full copy of the agenda. 

 

 

 
Meeting LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE 
 
Time/Day/Date 6.00 pm on Wednesday, 27 October 2021 
 
Location Council Chamber, Council Offices, Coalville 
 
Officer to contact Democratic Services 01530 454512 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item  Pages 

 
1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 

2  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 

 Under the Code of Conduct members are reminded that in declaring 
disclosable interests you should made clear the nature of that interest and 
whether it is pecuniary or non-pecuniary. 
 

 

3  PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION  
 

 

 To receive questions from members of the public under rule no.10 of the 
Council Procedure Rules.  
 

 

4  MINUTES  
 

 

 To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 8 September 2021 
 

3 - 6 

5  REVIEW OF SETTLEMENT HIERARCHY  
 

 

 Report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure 
 

7 - 38 

6  DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY  
 

 

 Report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure 
 

39 - 66 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings


 
Circulation:  
 
Councillor J Bridges (Chairman) 
Councillor R L Morris (Deputy Chairman) 
Councillor D Bigby 
Councillor R Boam 
Councillor D Everitt 
Councillor J Hoult 
Councillor J Legrys 
Councillor A C Saffell 
Councillor J G Simmons 
Councillor N Smith 
Councillor M B Wyatt 
Councillor K Merrie MBE (Portfolio Holder) 



63 
 

Chairman’s initials 

MINUTES of a meeting of the LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE held in the Council Chamber, Council 
Offices, Coalville on WEDNESDAY, 8 SEPTEMBER 2021  
 
Present:  Councillor J Bridges (Chairman) 
 
Councillors D Bigby, D Everitt, J Geary (Substitute for Councillor J Legrys), J Hoult, A C Saffell, 
J G Simmons and N Smith  
 
In Attendance: Councillors    
 
Officers:  Ms J Althorpe, Mr C Colbourn, Mr C Colvin, Mr C Elston, Ms S Grant, Ms S Lee, 
Mr I Nelson and Mrs R Wallace 
 

At the commencement of the meeting, the Chairman advised that Councillor A C 
Saffell was unable to attend the meeting in person and therefore would be joining 
the meeting remotely.  In accordance with the law, he was able to participate in the 
meeting but would not be permitted to vote. 
 

15 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors R Boam, J Legrys, R Morris and M 
B Wyatt. 
 

16 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
Councillors D Bigby and J Hoult declared a non-pecuniary interest in item 7 – Blackfordby 
Neighbourhood plan as members of Ashby Town Council who had contributed to the 
preparation of the plan. 

 
 

17 PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION 
 
A question had been received from a Member of the public, the question plus the 
response was detailed in the additional papers.  As the questioner, Mr Pickering, was not 
in attendance at the point the item was opened, the Chairman stated that he would be 
happy to take a supplementary question in writing outside of the meeting but at that point 
would move onto the next agenda item.  However, Mr Pickering arrived at 6.35pm and the 
Chairman moved back to the public question and answer session to allow his question to 
be asked. 
 
QUESTION RECEIVED FROM MR PICKERING 
 
“Will the local plan be put forward for a referendum like the parish council neighbourhood 
plan?” 
 
RESPONSE 
 
“A referendum for a Neighbourhood Plan is a specific requirement of Regulations. There 
is no such requirement for a Local Plan. Instead, Regulations prescribe that once the 
Local Plan has been subjected to Examination by an independent Planning Inspector the 
final decision as to whether the plan should be adopted is one for a meeting of Full 
Council.” 
 
Mr Pickering asked the following supplementary question: 
 

3

Agenda Item 4



64 
 

Chairman’s initials 

“Can you explain to me why the Parish Council is wasting it’s money on a Neighbourhood 
Plan Referendum when you 10 Councillors and 5 Officers have already voted against the 
public and Parish Councillors wishes 3/4 meetings ago?” 
 
The Planning Policy Team Manager explained that the Government were encouraging 
Neighbourhood Plans but unfortunately, they could not deal with strategic issues, 
therefore there had to be a district Local Plan.  At this point the Chairman stopped 
discussion as Mr Pickering attempted to debate the matter further which was not 
permitted in accordance with the Council’s Constitution.  It was agreed that a formal 
written response to the supplementary question be sent to Mr Pickering outside of the 
meeting.   
 
 

18 MINUTES 
 
Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting held on 7 July 2021. 
 
It was moved by Councillor N Smith, seconded by Councillor J Hoult and  
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 7 July 2021 be approved as a correct record. 
 
 

19 LOCAL PLAN REVIEW – HOUSING STANDARDS 
 
The Planning Policy Team Manager presented the report to Members.   
 
Members were pleased to see the proposed policy inclusions, especially in relation to 
space standards, and wheelchair accessible and adaptable housing.  Members shared 
concerns on the sizes of rooms currently being built in new homes by developers and the 
lack of ease of access for wheelchairs.  The Chairman concurred and explained that the 
proposals would put the council in a good position to address these concerns.  
 
Some Members expressed the importance of addressing water efficiency standards and a 
suggestion was made to include aids to capture water within developments to assist with 
this problem.  Both the Chairman and the Planning Policy Team Manager assured 
Members that this was something developers were working on already, but the inclusion 
of a standard would be another step forward. 
 
It was moved by Councillor D Bigby, seconded by Councillor N Smith and 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
Subject to the outcome of a future consultation and consideration of a whole plan viability 
assessment, that policies in respect of -  
 
1) Space standards; 
2) Wheelchair accessible and adaptable housing; and 
3) Water efficiency standards 
 
be included in the Local Plan substantive review. 
 
 

20 AFFORDABLE HOUSING SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT 
 
The Principal Planning Policy Officer presented the report to Members. 

4



65 
 

Chairman’s initials 

 
A Member was unhappy in relation to the First Home aspect which was a Government 
initiative, but was pleased, however that rented housing would be the next priority.  In 
response to a question, the Planning Policy Team Manager confirmed that the 
Supplementary Planning Document would need to be reviewed once the Local Plan was 
adopted. 
 
In relation to the wording of section (5) in the proposed planning policy H4 as detailed at 
appendix 1, a Member questioned the use of the word ‘encourage’ for the provision of 
affordable homes for elderly people.  It was felt that providing affordable homes for elderly 
people was of a high importance and therefore developers should be told to make 
provision rather than encouraged.  The Portfolio Holder concurred with the comments.  
The Planning Policy Team Manager explained that the local policy did state ‘encourage’ 
as at the time of adoption there was not enough evidence to make it stronger, however 
this could now be looked at going forward. 
 
A regular suggestion made at previous meetings was reiterated by a Member in relation to 
the use of factory built houses in areas such as Castle Donington that required more 
affordable homes for people that worked in the area, this was endorsed by a number of 
Members. 
 
It was moved by Councillor D Bigby, seconded by Councillor J Hoult and 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The draft Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document in appendix 1 be 
approved for public consultation. 
 
 

21 BLACKFORDBY NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
 
The Planning Policy Team Manager presented the report to Members.   
 
Comments were made on the importance of a Neighbourhood Plan and maintaining areas 
of separation between the villages.  It was also felt that the support of officers for the 
Blackfordby Neighbourhood Plan was encouraging for other parishes currently in the 
process of preparing a Neighbourhood Plan.     
 
It was moved by Councillor J Hoult, seconded by Councillor J Geary and 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
1) The proposed response to the submission draft of the Blackfordby Neighbourhood 

Plan in appendix A be approved. 
 
2) The consultation period for the Blackfordby Neighbourhood Plan be noted. 

 
3) Following the receipt of the Independent Examiner’s report it be noted that the 

Strategic Director of Place in consultation with the Portfolio Holder would determine 
whether the conditions had been met for the Blackfordby Neighbourhood Plan to 
proceed to referendum. 

 
4) It be noted that following the referendum and if time does not allow for a report to the 

Committee, the Strategic Director of Place in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 
would determine if the Blackfordby Neighbourhood Plan should be made. 

 

5



66 
 

Chairman’s initials 

5) The decision to send the Hugglescote and Donington Le Heath Neighbourhood Plan 
to referendum be noted. 

 
 

22 NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK UPDATE 
 
The Principal Planning Officer presented the report to Members. 
 
Members were happy to see the updates, especially the 30 year vision for larger scale 
developments and the improved ability to refuse applications that did not fall in line with 
the Council’s design aspirations.  In response to a question, the Principal Planning Officer 
confirmed that the updated advice in the NPPF in relation to the design was effective 
immediately as the updated document had been published. 
 
In response to a question in relation to NWLDC’s participation in the National Model 
Design Code pilot programme, the Planning Policy Team Manager confirmed that a 
financial contribution from government was provided for the additional work involved.    
 
It was moved by Councillor J Geary, seconded by Councillor D Bigby and  
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
1) The publication of a revised National Planning Policy Framework be noted. 

 
2) The potential implications for the Local Plan Substantive Review as outlined in the 

report be noted. 
 
 

The meeting commenced at 6.00 pm 
 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 7.31 pm 
 

 

6



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE – 27 OCTOBER 2021 
 

Title of Report 
 

LOCAL PLAN SUBSTANTIVE REVIEW – SETTLEMENT 
HIERARCHY 
 

Presented by Ian Nelson  
Planning Policy and Land Charges Team Manager  

Background Papers  
National Planning Policy 
Framework 
 
Report to Local Plan 
Committee – 7 November 
2018 
 
Report to Local Plan 
Committee – 26 June 2019 
 
Adopted North West 
Leicestershire Local plan 
 

Public Report: Yes 
 

Financial Implications The cost of the review is met from existing budgets which are 
reviewed as part of the annual budget setting process.  
 

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 
 

Legal Implications Legal implications considered in the preparation of this report  
 

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 
 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 
 

None identified 

Signed off by the Head of Paid Service: Yes 
 

Purpose of Report The purpose of this report is to agree the settlement hierarchy as 

part of the Local Plan substantive review.  

Recommendations THAT LOCAL PLAN COMMMITTEE AGREE: 
(I)    THE PROPOSED SETTLEMENT HEIRARCHY AS 

SET  OUT AT PARAGRAPH  3.19 OF THIS REPORT; 
AND 

(II) THAT THE PROPOSED SETTLEMENT HIERACHY BE 
CONSULTED UPON AS PART OF THE NEXT ROUND 
OF CONSULTATION  

 
1 BACKGROUND 

1.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states (paragraph 11) that: 

“all plans should promote a sustainable pattern of development that seeks to: meet the 

development needs of their area; align growth and infrastructure; improve the 

environment; mitigate climate change (including by making effective use of land in urban 

areas) and adapt to its effects;” 

1.2 To help achieve a sustainable pattern of development a settlement hierarchy is defined as 

part of a Local Plan.  

1.3 The adopted Local Plan established (Policy S2) a settlement hierarchy which 

distinguishes between the roles and functions of different settlements with the respective 

position in the hierarchy determined by the availability of services and facilities that 

communities need (i.e. settlements with a similar range and level or services and facilities 

7

Agenda Item 5

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/documents/s19496/LOCAL%20PLAN%20REVIEW%20SETTLEMENT%20HIERARCHY%20Local%20Plan%20Committee%20Report.pdf
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/documents/s19496/LOCAL%20PLAN%20REVIEW%20SETTLEMENT%20HIERARCHY%20Local%20Plan%20Committee%20Report.pdf
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/documents/s19496/LOCAL%20PLAN%20REVIEW%20SETTLEMENT%20HIERARCHY%20Local%20Plan%20Committee%20Report.pdf
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?XXR=0&Year=2019&CId=344&MD=ielistmeetings&
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?XXR=0&Year=2019&CId=344&MD=ielistmeetings&
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/local_plan
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/local_plan


 

are at the same level in the hierarchy). The settlement hierarchy is used to guide the 

location of future development. A report elsewhere on this agenda considers the issue of 

the potential development strategy for the Local Plan substantive review.   

1.4 The current settlement hierarchy consists of the following categories of settlements: 

 Principal town 

 Key Service Centres 

 Local Service Centres 

 Sustainable Villages 

 Small Villages  

 Hamlets  

 

1.5 Appendix A of this report sets out the settlement hierarchy in full.  

 

1.6 As part of the Local Plan substantive review it is necessary to determine whether the 

current settlement hierarchy is appropriate, or if changes to it are required.  

2 THE REVIEW OF THE SETTLEMENT HIERARCHY  

2.1 Officers have undertaken a Settlement Study of the district to inform the review of the 

current Settlement Hierarchy. 

2.2 The starting point for this was to establish an up-to-date list of services and facilities 

available by settlement. This was then checked in March 2021 by consulting with Parish 

and Town Councils across the district, as well as ward members for those unparished 

parts of the district.  

2.3 Having established a definitive list, officers then developed a methodology to be able to 

assess the relative sustainability of settlements. Rather than simply being about what 

services and facilities are available within a settlement, it also considered accessibility to 

services and facilities elsewhere by public transport as such provision can contribute 

towards the sustainability of a settlement.  

2.4 The following were assessed: 

 Access to convenience stores for food shopping; 

 Access to education facilities, both primary and secondary;  

 Access to employment locations. 

 Public transport access to higher order services outside of the settlement; and 

 Range of accessible community services and facilities (libraries, GPs, pharmacies, 

post offices, community venues, pubs, places of worship, and recreation facilities) 

 
2.5 The methodology involved a system of scoring points depending upon how a settlement 

performed against the set criteria for each service and facility assessed. There then 

follows a series of steps to define those settlements which are considered to be 

sustainable to some degree and hence appropriate as potential locations for general 

market housing. 

2.6 More details regarding the methodology, including the overall scoring, are set out in the 

Settlement Study attached at Appendix B of this report. Due to the size of the document, 

this does not include the detailed settlement proformas and maps which have been used 

to inform the study.  

3 THE OUTCOME FROM THE REVIEW  

3.1 In general terms the outcome from the review shows that: 

8



 

 The Coalville Urban Area scores well across all services and facilities and has the 

greatest range of any settlement; 

 Ashby de la Zouch and Castle Donington have the next best scores followed by 

Ibstock, Kegworth and Measham.  

 Beneath these the range of services and facilities is more varied with some 

settlements having very few 

 

3.2 The outcome largely supports the current settlement hierarchy. Therefore, no change is 

proposed in respect of the higher order centres of: 

 Principal town – the Coalville urban area; 

 Key Service Centres – Ashby de la Zouch and Castle Donington; 

 Local Service Centres – Ibstock, Kegworth and Measham  

 

3.3 The next level down is Sustainable Villages. Policy S2 of the adopted Local Plan states  

that these are “Settlements which have a limited range of services and facilities where a 

limited amount of growth will take place within the defined Limits to Development”. 

3.4 The remaining settlements which are considered to be sustainable are proposed as 

Sustainable Villages as set out below.  

Albert Village 
Appleby Magna 
Belton 
Blackfordby 
Breedon on the Hill 
Coleorton (Lower Moor Road 
Area) 
Diseworth 
Donisthorpe 
Ellistown 
Heather 
Long Whatton 
Moira (including Norris Hill) 
Oakthorpe 
Packington 
Ravenstone 
Swannington 
Woodville (Part) 

Worthington 
 

3.5 Again, this list is virtually the same as in the adopted Local Plan, save for the addition of 

Woodville. Whilst Woodville is largely located within South Derbyshire, a small area of 

recent development adjoining Hepworth Road is within the boundaries of North West 

Leicestershire. Woodville it itself has a good range of services and facilities. The 

designation only applies to that part of Woodville within North West Leicestershire.  

3.6 The characteristics that these villages have in terms of services and facilities are broadly 

consistent: 

 Majority have a shop  

 All have primary school 

 A small number (4) score the maximum available for employment uses, whereas 

all the higher order settlements score maximum 

 Most have an hourly bus service to a higher order centre 

 Most score at least 4 out of 9 for community services, only 2 villages (Albert village 

and Coleorton (Lower Moor Road area)) score less than 4. 

9



 

 

3.7 The next level down in the current hierarchy is Small Villages. Policy S2 of the adopted 

local plan states that these are:  

 

“Settlements with very limited services and where development will be restricted to 

conversions of existing buildings or the redevelopment of previously developed land (as 

defined in the National Planning Policy Framework) or affordable housing in accordance 

with Policy H5 (Rural Exceptions Sites for Affordable Housing).” 

3.8 The adopted Local Plan does not make any specific provision for development in these 

settlements.   

3.9 A report was considered by a meeting of this committee on 7 November 2018 which 

suggested a revised approach whereby the scope of development in Small Villages would 

be widened out to include development to meet a specified local need. A copy of the 

report can be viewed from the link included at the beginning of this report.   

3.10 The committee supported this proposed approach which was subject to consultation 

between 12 November 2018 and 1 January 2019. The consultation responses were 

considered at a meeting of this committee on 26 June 2019. A copy of the report can be 

viewed from the link included at the beginning of this report  

3.11 The committee agreed “in principle, subject to the outcome of the sustainability appraisal, 

to allow for some limited development in small villages where the proposed development 

meets the needs of somebody with a demonstrable local connection”. 

3.12 In terms of a local connection, the wording suggested in the report to the Local Plan 

Committee of 12 November 2018 is included at Appendix C of this report.  

3.13 The proposed approach has yet to be subject to a sustainability appraisal, this will happen 

as part of a later stage. However, rather than referring to these settlements as Small 

Villages, it is suggested that they be renamed as Local Housing Needs Villages as this 

presents a more accurate description of their role in the settlement hierarchy.  

3.14 In considering which of the remaining settlements should be Local Housing Needs 

Villages, the study considers two factors: 

Size in terms of number of dwellings 

This is on the basis that the greater the number of dwellings (and hence people) the 

greater the pressure and need for additional dwellings to meet local needs. 

Proximity to a sustainable settlement  

This is on the basis that if a sustainable settlement (i.e. a Sustainable Village or above in 

the hierarchy) was close by, any need could be met in the sustainable settlement, which 

because of its proximity, would maintain the local connectivity whilst also allowing that 

person or household access to a wider range of services and facilities. In contrast, a 

village not in close proximity to a sustainable settlement would, if new housing could not 

be provided, potentially result in that person or household losing the local connectivity that 

is so important to them.  

3.15 Therefore, those settlements with more than 100 dwellings, or if they had between 50 and 

100 dwellings and are more than 2km from a sustainable settlement (i.e. a Sustainable 

Village or above in the hierarchy) are proposed to be designated as Local Housing Needs 

Villages. The figure of 2km was used as this is the maximum walking distance 

recommended by the Chartered Institute of Highways and Transportation.  

 

10



 

3.16 The list of Local Housing Needs Villages is: 

Battram 
Boundary 
Coleorton (Outside 
the Lower Moor Road 
Area) 
Griffydam 
Hemington 
Lockington 
Lount 
Newbold 
Newton Burgoland 
Normanton le Heath 
Peggs Green 
Osgathorpe 
Sinope 
Snarestone 
Swepstone 
Wilson 

 

3.17 The provision of services and facilities in the Local Housing Needs Villages is more varied 

than in Sustainable Villages. For example, 6 have a primary school whilst 3 have access 

to an hourly public transport service. The range of community services ranges from 1 to 4, 

in contrast as already noted the Sustainable Villages largely score at least 4. 

3.18 Those settlements of less than 50 dwellings or between 50 and 100 dwellings but less 

than 2km from a sustainable settlement would be designated as Other Villages (or 

Hamlets?) and be subject to the general countryside policy. In these settlements only 1 

settlement scores more than 1 for the range of community services. Whilst 3 settlements 

have an hourly bus service this is offset by the lack of other services and facilities. 

Therefore, when taking account of services and facilities this supports the demarcation 

between Local Housing Needs Villages and Other Villages.  

3.19 For completeness, the proposed Settlement Hierarchy is: 

Settlement Classification 

Principal Town  

Coalville Urban Area which comprises of Coalville, Donington-le-Heath, 

Greenhill, Hugglescote, Snibston, Thringstone and Whitwick as well as the 

Bardon employment area. 

Key Service Centre 

Ashby de la Zouch  
Castle Donington 
 
Local Service Centre 

Ibstock 
Kegworth 
Measham 

 

Sustainable Villages 

Albert Village, Appleby Magna, Belton, Blackfordby, Breedon on the Hill, 

Coleorton (the Lower Moor Road area only), Diseworth, Donisthorpe, 

11



 

Ellistown, Heather, Long Whatton, Moira (including Norris Hill), Oakthorpe, 

Packington, Ravenstone, Swannington, Woodville (part), Worthington. 

Local Housing Needs Villages  

Battram, Boundary, Coleorton (the part not considered to be a Sustainable 

Village), Griffydam, Hemington, Lockington, Lount, Newbold, Newton 

Burgoland, Normanton le Heath, Osgathorpe, Peggs Green, Sinope, 

Snarestone, Swepstone, Wilson. 

 

Other Villages/Settlements 

Settlements not named in the above categories  

4 NEXT STEPS 

4.1 Subject to the recommendations of this report being agreed, it is proposed that 

consultation be undertaken with stakeholders on the proposed Settlement Hierarchy as 

part of a wider consultation on a number of key issues which have been the subject of 

reports to previous meetings of this committee.  

 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 
 

Our communities are safe, healthy and connected 
Local people live in high quality, affordable homes 

Policy Considerations: 
 

None  

Safeguarding: 
 

None discernible 

Equalities/Diversity: 
 

An Equalities Impact Assessment of the Local Plan 
review will be undertaken as part of the Sustainability 
Appraisal.  

Customer Impact: 
 

No issues identified  

Economic and Social Impact:  
 

The decision, of itself, will have no specific impact. 
The Substantive Local Plan Review as a whole will 
Aim to deliver positive economic and social impacts 
and these will be recorded through the Sustainability 
Appraisal. 

Environment and Climate Change: 
 

The decision, of itself, will have no specific impact. 
The Substantive Local Plan Review as a whole will 
Aim to deliver positive environmental and climate 
change benefits and these will be recorded through 
the Sustainability Appraisal. 

Consultation/Community Engagement: 
 

In due course the planning policy considerations 
outlined in the report will be incorporated in a 
consultation document for the Substantive Local Plan 
Review. The consultation arrangements will be 
governed by requirements in the Statement of 
Community Involvement 

Risks: 
 

A risk assessment for the Local Plan Review has 
been prepared and is kept up to date. As far as 
possible control measures have been put in place to 
minimise risks, including regular Project Board 
meetings where risk is reviewed. 

Officer Contact 
 

Ian Nelson  
Planning Policy and Land Charges Team Manager  
01530 454677  
ian.nelson@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

12

mailto:ian.nelson@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


 

APPENDIX A 
 

ADOPTED LOCAL PLAN – SETTLEMENT HIERACHY 

 

Settlement Classification Settlement(s) 

Principal Town  

The primary settlement in the district which 

provides an extensive range of services and 

facilities including employment, leisure and 

shopping and which is accessible by sustainable 

transport from surrounding areas and to other 

large settlements outside the district. The largest 

amount of new development will be directed here, 

including retail development, to support the 

regeneration of Coalville Town Centre. 

 

Coalville Urban Area 

which comprises of 

Coalville, Donington-

le-Heath, Greenhill, 

Hugglescote, 

Snibston, Thringstone 

and Whitwick as well 

as the Bardon 

employment area. 

Key Service Centre 

Smaller than the Principal Town in terms of 

population and also the range of services and 

facilities they provide, they play an important role 

providing services and facilities to the 

surrounding area and are accessible by some 

sustainable transport.  A significant amount of 

development will take place in these settlements 

but less than that in the Principal Town. 

 

Ashby de la Zouch  

Castle Donington  

Local Service Centre 

Settlements which provide some services and 

facilities primarily of a local nature meeting day-

to-day needs and where a reasonable amount of 

new development will take place. 

 

Ibstock 

Kegworth 

Measham 

Sustainable Villages 

Settlements which have a limited range of 

services and facilities where a limited amount of 

growth will take place within the defined Limits to 

Development. 

Albert Village, 

Appleby Magna, 

Belton, Blackfordby, 

Breedon on the Hill, 

Coleorton (the Lower 

Moor Road area only), 

Diseworth, 

Donisthorpe, 

Ellistown, Heather, 

Long Whatton, Moira 

(including Norris Hill), 

Oakthorpe, 

Packington, 

Ravenstone, 

Swannington, 

Worthington. 

13



 

Small Village 

Settlements with very limited services and where 

development will be restricted to conversions of 

existing buildings or the redevelopment of 

previously developed land (as defined in the 

National Planning Policy Framework) or affordable 

housing in accordance with Policy H5 (Rural 

Exceptions Sites for Affordable Housing).  

 

 

Battram, Coleorton 

(the part not 

considered to be a 

Sustainable Village), 

Griffydam, 

Hemington, 

Lockington, Lount, 

Newbold, Newton 

Burgoland, 

Osgathorpe, Peggs 

Green, Sinope, 

Snarestone, 

Swepstone, Spring 

Cottage, Tonge, 

Wilson. 

Hamlets 

Small groups of dwellings with no services and 

facilities and where development will be 

considered in the context of the countryside 

policy (Policy S3). 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

14



North West Leicestershire District Council 

Local Plan review  

 

Settlement Study 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

October 2021 

  

15



North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 2 of 21 
 

Contents 
 
 

1. Introduction & purpose of the study 
 

3 

2. Policy context 
 

3 

 National policy context 
 

3 

 Local Policy Context 
 

4 

3. Methodology 
 

5 

 Setting parameters 
 

5 

  Access to convenience stores 
 

7 

  Access to education facilities 
 

8 

  Access to employment locations 
 

8 

  Public transport access to main centres 
 

9 

  Range of accessible community facilities and services 
 

10 

4. The Results 
 

12 

5. Defining a Hierarchy 
 

13 

6. The Remaining Settlements 
 

15 

7. Settlement study results 
 

17 

 Appendix A: Current Settlement Hierarchy 
 

18 

 Appendix B: Settlement proformas and maps 
 

20 

 
  

16



North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 3 of 21 
 

1. Introduction & purpose of the study 
 
1.1 The purpose of this settlement study is to provide a comparative assessment of the relative 

sustainability of the settlements within the district. This evidence will help to inform a 
review of the settlement hierarchy which, along with a range of evidence, will inform the 
Substantive Review of the North West Leicestershire Local Plan. 

 
1.2 The settlement hierarchy is a way of categorising the settlements in North West 

Leicestershire and grouping those settlements together that have similar characteristics in 
terms of the services and facilities their residents have access to. This assessment has used 
a desk-based approach to detail and assesses the sustainability of settlements within the 
district primarily using: 

 Services and facilities present within settlements including convenience stores, 
schools, library service, GP and pharmacies, post office, community venues, pubs and 
places of worship together with informal and formal recreation; 

 The accessibility to higher order centres using public / sustainable transport; and 

 The accessibility to employment opportunities. 
 
1.3  Following the assessment, at the top of the hierarchy would be the settlements which have 

the greatest range of facilities and services accessible to their communities, including 
public transport provision. Smaller settlements with the least facilities, services and 
accessibility to public transport will be at the bottom of the hierarchy. 

 
1.4  In addition to providing evidence which will assist in the development of the local plan and 

the settlement hierarchy this study will also provide evidence which can be used by 
communities preparing neighbourhood plans. 

 
1.5  The Council has previously prepared a Settlement Hierarchy in 2016. This Settlement Study 

builds upon that earlier evidence and considers the full range of settlements across the 
district. 

 
1.6 The current settlement hierarchy is set out at Appendix A of this paper. 
 
 

2. Policy context 
 

National policy context 
 
2.1  The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was revised in July 2021 and sets out 

national planning policies for England. Several of the NPPFs key principles are relevant 
when considering the sustainability of settlements in the district. The NPPF places great 
importance on the delivery of sustainable development and the promotion of healthy and 
safe communities. 

 
2.2  The NPPF emphasises the importance of minimising the length and number of journeys to 

work, shopping and leisure activities and increasing the opportunities for sustainable forms 
of transport to be used to make such trips. Further to this the NPPF is clear that authorities 
should avoid isolated development in rural areas where access to facilities is more limited. 
The key parts of the NPPF which relate to this study are: 

 
 

17



North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 4 of 21 
 

Paragraph 8 (Achieving sustainable development):  
Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three overarching 
objectives, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways: 

 A social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that 
a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present 
and future generations; and by fostering well-designed, beautiful and safe places, with 
accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and future needs and support 
communities’ health social and cultural well-being. 

 
Paragraph 92 (Promoting healthy and safe communities):  
Planning policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places 
which: 

 Enable and support healthy lifestyle, especially where this would address identified local 
health and wellbeing needs – for example through the provision of safe and accessible 
green infrastructure, sports facilities, local shops, access to healthier food, allotments 
and layouts that encourage walking and cycling. 

 
Paragraph 93 (Promoting healthy and safe communities): 
To provide the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services the community needs, 
planning policies and decisions should: 

 Plan positively for the provision and use of shared spaces, community facilities (such as 
local shops, meeting places, sports venues, open space, cultural buildings, public houses 
and places of worship) and other local services to enhance the sustainability of 
communities and residential environments; and 

 Ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses 
and community facilities and services. 

 
Paragraph 95 (Promoting healthy and safe communities): 
It is important that a sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the needs of 
existing and new communities. 

 
Paragraph 105 (Promoting sustainable transport): 
Significant development should be focused on locations which are or can be made 
sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport 
modes.  

 
Paragraph 106 (Promoting sustainable transport):  
Planning policies should: 

 Support an appropriate mix of uses across an area, and within larger scale sites, to 
minimise the number and length of journeys needed for employment, shopping, leisure, 
education and other activities. 

 
 

Local Policy Context 
 
2.3  The North West Leicestershire Local Plan was adopted in March 2021 following a Partial 

Review and sets out the spatial strategy for the district. The spatial strategy of the local 
plan is set out in Policy S1(Future housing and economic development needs) and is 
supported by the housing and economic policies of the local plan. These policies set out 
the council’s approach towards the achievement of sustainable development within the 

18



North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 5 of 21 
 

district. Policy S2 (Settlement Hierarchy) contains the current settlement hierarchy 
established in the 2016 study referred to above. 

 
2.4  The Council has already begun the Substantive Review of its local plan and consulted upon 

the Emerging Options between November 2018 and January 2019. 
 
 

3. Methodology 
 

Setting parameters 
 
3.1  The following section sets out the methodological approach which has been used to assess 

the sustainability of settlements within the district. The study has used a desk-based 
approach along with local knowledge of the settlements to understand which facilities and 
services are present within the settlement. Once these were identified the relevant Parish 
Councils or local Members were contacted to provide a local check of the services and 
facilities identified. 

 
3.2  Settlements were identified as groups of dwellings with an identifiable core or distribution 

that tied them together and that were named on the Ordnance Survey map. If an area of 
dwellings was considered to be too few and / or dispersed to form a cohesive group, then 
they were not included in the assessment. The adopted Limits to Development have been 
used to assist the process. Consistent with the approach taken in the adopted Local Plan, 
the Coalville Urban Area incorporates Coalville, Donington-le-Heath, Greenhill, 
Hugglescote, Snibston, Thringstone and Whitwick as well as the Bardon Employment Area. 

 
3.3 Two settlements in this study have been included which are not wholly within the North 

West Leicestershire boundary. Woodville is part of the South Derbyshire district. However, 
part of a recent expansion of Woodville that has occurred was within North West 
Leicestershire. This is clearly a part of Woodville, rather than being a standalone 
settlement. It is considered appropriate, therefore, to include it in the study as Woodville 
(part) with the services and facilities in the rest of Woodville supporting it. The second 
settlement is appropriately called Boundary and is positioned either side of the A511 with 
the majority within North West Leicestershire and the remainder in South Derbyshire. 

 
3.4  To measure the comparative sustainability of settlements a number of criteria have been 

identified to enable settlements to be assessed against the services and facilities which are 
considered key for a sustainable settlement. These have been chosen to reflect the criteria 
in the NPPF for sustainability and community facilities as can be seen in Table 3.1. 

  

19



North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 6 of 21 
 

 
Table 3.1: Identified services and facilities and NPPF sustainability criteria 

NPPF paragraph Service or Facility 

Paragraph 8 (Achieving 
sustainable development) 

Convenience Store 
Primary Education 
Secondary Education 
Library Service 
GP Surgery 
Pharmacy 

Post Office Service 
Community Venues 
Public House 
Place of Worship 
Informal Recreation 
Formal Recreation 

Paragraph 92 (Promoting 
healthy and safe 
communities) 

Convenience Store 
GP Surgery 
Pharmacy 

Informal Recreation 
Formal Recreation 

Paragraph 93 (Promoting 
healthy and safe 
communities) 

Convenience Store 
Community Venues 
Public House 
Place of Worship 

Informal Recreation 
Formal Recreation 
Employment within 2km 

Paragraph 95 (Promoting 
healthy and safe 
communities) 

Primary Education 
Secondary Education 

 

Paragraph 105 
(Promoting sustainable 
transport) 

Public Transport 
 

 

Paragraph 106 
(Promoting sustainable 
transport) 

Public Transport 
Employment within 2km 
 

 

 
3.5  In addition to the NPPF, the Department for Transport National Travel Survey 2019 

produces data which demonstrates the main reasons people make trips as can be seen in 
Table 3.2. The data demonstrates that shopping, commuting and education account for the 
highest number of trips on average, this has helped to group services and facilities for 
scoring purposes into categories. 

 
Table 3.2: Number of trips taken for this purpose on average per person 

Purpose of trip Average number of trips (trip rates) per 
person per year by trip purpose 

Commuting 140 

Business 28 

Education 68 

Escort education 58 

Shopping 181 

Other escort 83 

Personal business 88 

Visiting friends at private home 82 

Visiting friends elsewhere 48 

Entertainment / public activity 59 

Sport: participate 13 

Holiday: base 13 

Day trip 32 

Other including just walk 61 

 

20



North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 7 of 21 
 

3.6  Analysis of this data would suggest that where communities have better access to these 
services and facilities locally or by sustainable modes of transport then this will assist in 
reducing the number of trips made. 

 
3.7  The key services and facilities can be grouped into categories as set out below and will be 

used to indicate the sustainability of a settlement within North West Leicestershire District: 

 Access to convenience stores for food shopping; 

 Access to education facilities, both primary and secondary;  

 Access to employment locations. 

 Public transport access to higher order services outside of the settlement; and 

 Range of accessible community services and facilities (libraries, GPs, pharmacies, post 
offices, community venues, pubs, places of worship, and recreation facilities); 

 
3.8  These criteria will give a consistent high-level indication of the services and facilities 

accessible to existing settlements. Each of these key services areas are considered in 
greater detail in the following sections. This will provide justification and an explanation as 
to how each settlement has been assessed against the specific criteria.  

 
 

Access to convenience stores: 
 
3.9  The Department for Transport travel data (Table 3.2) identifies accessing shopping 

destinations as the largest cause for trip generation and accounted for around 181 trips on 
average per person in 2019. Access to supermarkets and convenience stores are 
increasingly important to ensure that residents can meet their regular shopping needs as 
our shopping habits change with more people nationally choosing to shop several times a 
week rather than undertaking one large shop. Notwithstanding the increase in 
supermarket deliveries, where there is limited or no access to either a supermarket or a 
convenience store then residents may need to undertake numerous trips out of the 
settlement to fulfil their shopping needs greatly increasing the number of car journeys. 

 
3.10 The Association of Convenience Stores (ACS) 2021 rural shop report highlights usefulness 

of a rural convenience shop with many offering additional services to the convenience 
goods, including mobile phone top ups (80%) and cash back (70%) to parcel collection point 
(28%) which help in people staying local for small tasks. The report also highlighted that 
there was an increase in people using their local shop with 37% more using them than last 
year, and although this may be due COVID, habits will be formed. 

 
3.11 A settlement will be considered to have access to food shopping where a convenience 

store is available within the settlement. With the trend towards more frequent top up 
shopping size of store has not been differentiated. However, within the 6 main settlements 

(Coalville Urban Area, Ashby de la Zouch, Castle Donington, Ibstock, Kegworth and 
Measham) the recording of convenience stores has been limited to those supported by a 
retail group or franchise, whilst in the other settlements all convenience stores have been 
recorded. It is recognized that there could be additional independent convenience 
provision in the 6 main settlements, but it is not considered necessary to formally record 
these where there is a Town / Local Centre. 

 
3.12 A score of 1 is also added for settlements that have an identifiable core of town centre 

services such as other retail or business uses that serve a wider area, these are not the 

21



North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 8 of 21 
 

services considered in the services and facilities section below. This will assist in defining 
the higher order settlements. 

 
3.13 Therefore, settlements will be assessed for this category as follows: 
 

No Convenience Store within or adjacent to the settlement 0 

One or more Convenience Stores within or adjacent to the 
settlement 

Score = number of 
convenience stores 

An identifiable core of town centre uses +1 

 
 

Access to education facilities: 
 
3.14 Education was the third biggest generator of trips in 2017 according to Department for 

Transport research (Appendix A). Therefore, the location of schools is important when 
considering development to reduce avoidable trips by private transport. Paragraph 95 of 
the NPPF highlights the importance of meeting the needs of existing new communities by 
ensuring a sufficient choice of school places. 

 
3.15 These criteria include both primary and secondary education provision. For the primary age 

range of up to 11 years of age, which typically has a local catchment area, Ibstock and 
Woodville both have separate infant and junior schools. However, these have been 
counted as one so that the primary school provision is therefore comparable with other 
settlements. In the case of the schools serving Appleby Magna and Appleby Parva and the 
Coleorton area, they are positioned outside and between the identifiable built up areas, 
therefore, both these schools have been recorded as serving two settlements as they are 
within the acceptable walking distance for ”commuting/school” set out in the Chartered 
Institution of Highways & Transportation (CIHT) Providing for Journeys on Foot (2000) the 
maximum has not been used to allow for the primary school age of walkers.  

 
3.16 Therefore, settlements will be assessed for this category as follows: 
 

No school within or adjacent to the settlement 0 

Primary education within or in close proximity to the settlement 1 

Primary and Secondary education within or close proximity to the 
settlement 

2 

 
 

Access to employment locations: 
 
3.17 The travel data prepared by the Department of Transport identifies that commuting 

journeys account for the second largest number of trips per person (Table 3.2). As such 
where residents have access to employment and jobs within or accessible to their 
communities then this will increase the sustainability of the settlement. 

 
3.18 Many of the other services and facilities considered as part of this study provide 

employment opportunities (for example, shops, schools etc). However, this aspect has 
been assessed by focussing on the proximity of an employment site (for example industrial 
and business estates or large employers) to a settlement.  These were identified through a 
map search and local knowledge. Locations such as offices or small businesses within 
residential areas have not been included. 

22



North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 9 of 21 
 

 
3.19 The Limits to Development have been used as one factor as settlements with these have 

been identified as sustainable locations under the previous settlement study. The distance 
of 2km has also been used as this corresponds to the CIHT preferred maximum walking 
distances for commuting and schools (as employees would all walk from different 
locations, a simple straight line measured from the edge of the employment area to the 
middle of the settlement has been used) 

 
3.20 Any employment site within the existing Limits to Development will score the maximum 2 

for that settlement. Any employment site that is outside of the Limits to Development will 
score 1 for a settlement if it is also within 2km of the settlement. Any settlement that does 
not have any employment sites either within their Limits to Development or are within 
2km of an employment site will not achieved a score under this category. 

 
3.21 Therefore, settlements will be assessed for this category as follows: 
 

No employment sites within Limits to Development or within 2km 0 

Employment sites outside Limits to Development but within 2km 1 

Employment sites within Limits to Development 2 

 
 

Public transport access to main centres: 
 
3.22 Paragraph 103 of the NPPF highlights the importance of focusing development at locations 

which can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine 
choice of transport modes. 

 
3.23 Any bus service that passes through a settlement is identified by service number and the 

terminal stops of that service. If there is no service directly through a settlement but there 
is a service accessible via a pedestrian footway and it is within a 1.2km walking distance 
this is noted. The distance of 1.2km has been used as it corresponds to the CIHT preferred 
maximum walking distance for ‘elsewhere’, as the motivation for making the journey could 
be a wide range of reasons, and not just going to work or school. If there is no pedestrian 
route or nearby service, then these are noted as such. 

 
3.24 Parts of the district are also served by Demand Responsive Transport (DRT) which is a 

bookable seat in a taxi service on set times in a day, which must be booked sometime in 
the preceding week. These have been included where they are available for a settlement. 

 
3.25 The times for the bus services have only been shown for the Monday – Saturday daytime 

service as this covers the greatest proportion of the working pattern. Where there are 
multiple services the times are in the corresponding order to the list of services. The details 
have been sourced from the https://www.choosehowyoumove.co.uk/public-
transport/bus-routes-and-timetables/ website. 

 
3.26 For a settlement to achieve a score in this criteria the public transport must access a higher 

order settlement, the 6 main settlements within the District (Coalville Urban Area, Ashby 
de la Zouch, Castle Donington, Ibstock, Kegworth and Measham) or a higher order 
settlement in a neighbouring area such as Burton upon Trent, Clifton, Derby, Hinckley, 
Leicester, Loughborough, Nottingham, Swadlincote. 

 

23

https://www.choosehowyoumove.co.uk/public-transport/bus-routes-and-timetables/
https://www.choosehowyoumove.co.uk/public-transport/bus-routes-and-timetables/


North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 10 of 21 
 

3.27 A higher score is achieved for those settlements with a higher frequency of public 
transport, as an at least hourly bus service provides a better level of connectivity and 
therefore ability to commute or access to other settlements. Conversely, a lower score is 
achieved for those settlements with an infrequent service that may not allow for 
commuting or other errands without the need to use a car. 

 
3.28 Therefore, settlements will be assessed for this category as follows: 
 

No Public Transport access to a higher order settlement  0 

Public Transport access to a higher order settlement at least 
infrequent, a DRT service or a service within 1.2km walking 
distance of the settlement (Monday to Saturday) 

1 

Public Transport access to a higher order settlement less than 
hourly but more than infrequent (Monday to Saturday) 

2 

Public Transport access to a higher order settlement at least hourly 
(Monday to Saturday) 

3 

 
 

Range of accessible community services and facilities: 
 
3.29 In addition to shops, schools and employment, it is recognised that there many other 

services and facilities which help to make a settlement more sustainable as they provide 
local access. When assessing the comparative sustainability of a settlement it is important, 
therefore, to understand the range of community services and facilities which are 
accessible to the residents of the settlement. Their availability is considered within these 
criteria of the assessment and will differ greatly across the settlements, but generally the 
greater level and variety of community facilities and services present the more sustainable 
the location will be. 

 
3.30 Library Services for the district are a mixture of fixed buildings and mobile services. The 

mobile service is limited to one visit per month and so has not been included due to 
infrequency. (https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/leisure-and-community/libraries on 
22/2/2021) 

 
3.31 GP Surgeries are General Practices that provides front line healthcare to the resident 

population as identified by the NHS website (https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/ on 
23/02/2021) 

 
3.32 Pharmacies have been identified using the NHS website. (https://www.nhs.uk/service-

search/ on 23/02/2021) as with GP surgeries they are not necessarily a day to day 
requirement but do provide part of the basic medical service for a community. 

 
3.33 Post Offices, it should be noted that not all post office services are available at all branches 

and the hours a service is open per day varies by branch, with some branches being a 
mobile service, but they all offer Everyday Banking Services. As identified on the Post Office 
website https://www.postoffice.co.uk/branch-finder on 24/02/2021. 

 
3.34 There are a number of services and facilities which are important from a social 

sustainability point of view and which support community networks. These include 
community venues, public houses places of worship and opportunities for recreation.  

 

24

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/leisure-and-community/libraries
https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/
https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/
https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/
https://www.postoffice.co.uk/branch-finder


North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 11 of 21 
 

3.35 Community Venues include Community and Village Halls. However, as the basic criteria for 
this resource is that there are rooms that are available to be hired by local residents, other 
types of venues are also included, such as the Community Hub at Castle Donington and the 
Old School Room at Blackfordby. These have been included as they represent a communal 
resource for the settlement which allows group activities to occur. 

 
3.36 The Public House section lists all the public houses and includes facilities such as social 

clubs which require a small annual fee.  
 
3.37 Places of Worship have been identified for a settlement, this includes all those that are 

active on a daily / weekly basis to those that are less active as part of a cycle of worship in a 
larger group. 

 
3.38 Recreation is split between formal recreation and informal recreation 
 
3.39 Formal Recreation facilities are those that need are for organised activities and which have 

to be prearranged, booked or paid for to use. For example, a marked football pitch with a 
pavilion where the access to the pavilion or pitch needs to be arranged in advance; sports 
clubs with controlled access to their facilities; leisure centres where pre arrangement / 
booking may not be required but the use is paid for. It includes the marked pitches which 
have additional facilities such as changing room / pavilion, but the pitch is still freely 
accessible. 

 
3.40 The Informal Recreation section records informal recreation facilities and includes 

everything that is not classed as formal recreation (defined above). This includes provision 
from grassed kick about areas and equipped play areas (LAPs, LEAPs and NEAPs), including 
skate parks and Multi Use Games Areas (MUGAs), to unmarked pitches with goal posts. 
Informal provision has also been used to cover marked pitches that do not have additional 
facilities available such as a changing room / pavilion or facilities that do not require 
prearrangement or booking. 

 
3.41 Therefore, settlements will be assessed for this category as follows: 
 

There are no Services or Facilities within or adjacent to the 
settlement 

0 

One or more Services and Facilities within or adjacent to the 
settlement 

Score = number of 
types of Service / 
Facility available 
(maximum of 9) 

 

4 The Results 

 
4.1 Taking account of the methodology, the results for each settlement are set out at table 4.1 

on the next page. The settlements are in alphabetical order.  
 
 
 
 
.  
 

25



North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 12 of 21 
 

Table 4.1 Comparative settlement scoring from the assessments.  
settlement 

C
o

n
ve

n
ie

n
ce

 

Sh
o

p
 S

co
re

 

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

 

Sc
o

re
 

Em
p

lo
ym

e
n

t 

Sc
o

re
 

C
o

n
n

e
ct

iv
it

y 

Sc
o

re
 

S 
&

 F
 S

co
re

 

Acresford 0 0 1 3 3 

Albert Village 0 1 1 3 2 

Appleby Magna 0 1 1 1 5 

Appleby Parva 0 1 1 0 1 

Ashby de la Zouch 6 2 2 3 9 

Battram 0 0 1 1 2 

Belton 1 1 1 1 6 

Blackfordby 0 1 1 3 5 

Boothorpe 0 0 1 0 0 

Boundary 0 0 1 3 1 

Breedon on the Hill 1 1 2 1 5 

Castle Donington 3 2 2 3 9 

Cavendish Bridge 0 0 1 3 1 

Chilcote 0 0 0 0 1 

Coalville Urban Area 16 2 2 3 9 

Coleorton (Lower Moor Road Area) 1 0 1 3 2 

Coleorton (Outside the Lower Moor Road Area) 0 1 1 1 3 

Diseworth 0 1 1 3 4 

Donisthorpe 1 1 1 3 5 

Ellistown 2 1 2 3 5 

Farm Town 0 0 1 0 0 

Griffydam 0 1 1 1 2 

Heather 1 1 1 1 5 

Hemington 0 1 1 1 3 

Ibstock 2 2 2 3 9 

Isley Walton 0 0 1 3 1 

Kegworth 1 1 2 3 9 

Lockington 0 0 1 1 2 

Long Whatton 2 1 2 3 5 

Lount 0 0 1 3 2 

Measham 2 1 2 3 9 

Moira (including Norris Hill) 2 1 2 3 6 

New Packington 0 0 1 1 0 

Newbold 0 1 1 1 2 

Newton Burgoland 0 1 0 1 3 

Normanton le Heath 0 0 0 0 1 

Oakthorpe 1 1 1 3 4 

Osgathorpe 0 0 0 1 3 

Packington 1 1 1 3 5 

Peggs Green 0 0 0 3 4 

Ravenstone 1 1 1 3 5 

Sinope 0 0 1 3 1 

Snarestone 0 1 0 2 4 

Spring Cottage 0 0 1 0 1 

Stretton en le Field 0 0 1 0 0 

Swannington 0 1 1 3 4 

Swepstone 0 0 1 0 2 

Tonge 0 0 1 1 0 

Wilson 0 0 0 1 1 

Woodville (part) 1 1 1 1 9 

Worthington 1 1 1 1 4 

 
 

26



North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 13 of 21 
 

5 Defining a Hierarchy 
 
5.1 Having established the range or services and facilities available in each settlement, the next 

steps is to define what, in the context of this study, is considered to be a sustainable 
settlement?  

 
5.2 In simple terms, a sustainable settlement is one which has a range of services and facilities 

within it, so as to provide an opportunity to meet as many of the needs of the local 
community as possible without having to travel elsewhere or when travel elsewhere is 
necessary it can be done by using means other than a car.  

 
5.3 In the context of this study, and using the information collected, it was determined that a 

sustainable settlement should be one that: 
 

 Has each of the 3 Core Services of a convenience shop, school, and access to 
employment as identified in the DfT survey in Table 3.2, as on a daily basis these 
services are available without the need to travel beyond the settlement;  

OR 

 Has 2 out of the 3 Core Services of a convenience shop, school, or access to 
employment AND either an hourly bus service to a higher order settlement (a score of 
3 in table 4.1) OR has at least 5 out of the 9 community services and facilities (again 
from Table 4.1).  

 
5.4 This approach recognises that sustainable settlements will not all have exactly the same 

type and range of services and facilities hence including those settlements which have only 
2 out of 3 Core Services or 5 out of 9 community services and facilities. However, where 
this is the case, this is then balanced by requiring that there be good public transport 
accessibility to higher order settlements so as to provide an opportunity to be able to 
access a wider range of services and facilities without the need to use a private vehicle, 
consistent with the NPPF.  

 
5.5 Applying these tests to the results in Table 4.1 identifies the settlements which can be 

regarded as being sustainable, the next step was to put those settlements in to a hierarchy. 
This was done by adding up all of the points from the 5 categories outlined earlier. The 
results are shown in Table 5.1 below.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

27



North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 14 of 21 
 

Table 5.1 The sustainable settlements 

Settlement 

C
o

n
ve

n
ie

n
ce

 

Sh
o

p
 S

co
re

 

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

 

Sc
o

re
 

Em
p

lo
ym

en
t 

Sc
o

re
 

C
o

n
n

ec
ti

vi
ty

 

Sc
o

re
 

Se
rv

ic
e 

&
 

Fa
ci

lit
y 

Sc
o

re
 

To
ta

l S
co

re
 

Coalville Urban Area 17 2 2 3 9 33 

Ashby de la Zouch 7 2 2 3 9 23 

Castle Donington 4 2 2 3 9 20 

Ibstock 3 2 2 3 9 19 

Measham 3 1 2 3 9 18 

Kegworth 2 1 2 3 9 17 

Moira (including Norris Hill) 2 1 2 3 6 14 

Ellistown 2 1 2 3 5 13 

Long Whatton 2 1 2 3 5 13 

Woodville (Part) 1 1 1 1 9 13 

Donisthorpe 1 1 1 3 5 11 

Packington 1 1 1 3 5 11 

Ravenstone 1 1 1 3 5 11 

Belton 1 1 1 1 6 10 

Breedon on the Hill 1 1 2 1 5 10 

Oakthorpe 1 1 1 3 4 10 

Blackfordby 0 1 1 3 5 10 

Diseworth 0 1 1 3 4 9 

Swannington 0 1 1 3 4 9 

Heather 1 1 1 1 5 9 

Appleby Magna 0 1 1 1 5 8 

Coleorton (Lower Moor Road Area) 1 1 1 3 2 8 

Worthington 1 1 1 1 4 8 

Albert Village 0 1 1 3 2 7 

 
5.6 As set out in Table 5.1, it is clear that the Coalville Urban Area is the most sustainable 

settlement having regard to the range of services and facilities available. Next come Ashby 
de la Zouch and Castle Donington followed by Ibstock, Measham and Kegworth. Most score 
the maximum points that they can in each category, with the exception of Ibstock and 
Measham which do not have full education provision (although Ibstock does go up to age 
14). In addition, all have a clearly defined service centre.  

 
5.7 After these 6 settlements there is a gap to Moira followed by scores which fall in small 

increments down to 7 points at Albert Village.  
 
5.8 On the basis of the above it was concluded that the current hierarchy categories of 

Principal Town, Key Service Centre, Local Service Centre and Sustainable Villages was 
justified and should be retained. Having regard to the above results the following is 
therefore proposed. 

  

28



North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 15 of 21 
 

 
Table 5.2 The sustainable hierarchy 

Settlement Category Settlement 

Principal Town Coalville Urban Area 

Key Service Centre 
Ashby de la Zouch 

Castle Donington 

Local Service Centre 

Ibstock 

Kegworth 

Measham 

Sustainable Villages 

Moira (including Norris Hill) 

Ellistown 

Long Whatton 

Woodville (Part) 

Donisthorpe 

Packington 

Ravenstone 

Belton 

Breedon on the Hill 

Oakthorpe 

Blackfordby 

Diseworth 

Swannington 

Heather 

Appleby Magna  

Coleorton (Lower Moor Road Area) 

Worthington 

Albert Village 

 
 

6. The remaining settlements  
 
6.1 As part of the review of the Local Plan, the Council is proposing to allow a limited amount 

of development for local needs in settlements which are not appropriate for general 
market housing. This will help to address issues relating to social sustainability in smaller 
settlements. 

 
6.2 Therefore, the remaining settlements have been further assessed to determine if they 

should be a Local Housing Need Village. Those settlements which do not meet the criteria 
for a Local Housing Need Village would be an Other Village / Settlement and be subject to 
the Countryside Policy as they are now. 

 
6.3 In determining which should be Local Housing Needs Villages, the first criteria looked at 

was size as the pressure for additional dwellings would increase with the size of 
population. The figures for the settlement size are based on the Office for National 
Statistics (ONS) 2011 Census for number of households which has then been increased by 
the number of new dwellings built since 2011. The Census data is based on ONS Output 
Areas, these cover more than the settlement itself and therefore the figures will include 
some outlying dwellings. 

 
6.4 The bands were set at 50 and 100 dwellings with under 50 being considered small enough 

to remain under the Countryside Policy and over 100 large enough to have a reasonable 
quantum to support the Local Housing Need Policy. 

 

29



North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 16 of 21 
 

6.5 The second criteria for those settlements that were between 50 and 100 was their distance 
to a sustainable settlement. If they were within 2km (the maximum CIHT walking distance) 
then it was considered that any additional Local Housing Need could be supported by that 
larger sustainable settlement without being detrimental from a social sustainability point 
of view. Therefore, these settlements would remain as being subject to the Countryside 
Policy. If the settlement was over 2km from a sustainable settlement, then it was 
considered that they became a Local Housing Need Village. 

 
6.6 Therefore, remaining settlements will be assessed for Local Housing Needs status as 

follows: 
 

Size of Settlement Proximity to a Sustainable 
Settlement 

Local Housing 
Needs Village 

Less than 50 N/A No 

51 – 100 Within 2km No 

51 – 100 More than 2km Yes 

101 and above N/A Yes 

 
Table 6.2 Comparative Local Housing Needs Scoring 

Settlement 

Se
tt

le
m

en
t 

si
ze

 

d
is

ta
n

ce
 t

o
 n

ea
re

st
 

Su
st

ai
n

ab
le

 

Se
tt

le
m

en
t 

(k
m

) 

Name of nearest 
Sustainable Settlement 

Proposed Category 

Newbold 242   LHNV by virtue of size 

Coleorton (Outside the 
Lower Moor Road Area) 

219  
 LHNV by virtue of size 

Osgathorpe 197   LHNV by virtue of size 

Newton Burgoland 178   LHNV by virtue of size 

Griffydam 158   LHNV by virtue of size 

Snarestone 143   LHNV by virtue of size 

Boundary 135   LHNV by virtue of size 

Hemington 133   LHNV by virtue of size 

Peggs Green 128   LHNV by virtue of size 

Battram 112   LHNV by virtue of size 

Swepstone 96 2.4 - 2.8 Heather LHNV by virtue of distance from a sustainable settlement  

Lockington 88 2.0 - 2.4 Castle Donington LHNV by virtue of distance from a sustainable settlement 

Sinope 
87 2.0 - 2.4 

Swannington/ Coleorton 
(Lower Moor Road Area) 

LHNV by virtue of distance from a sustainable settlement 

Lount 
79 3.6 - 4.0 

Coleorton (Lower Moor 
Road Area) 

LHNV by virtue of distance from a sustainable settlement 

Wilson 69 2.0 - 2.4 Breedon on the Hill LHNV by virtue of distance from a sustainable settlement 

Normanton le Heath 66 2.4 - 2.8 Heather LHNV by virtue of distance from a sustainable settlement 

Acresford 65 1.6 - 2.0 Netherseal Other Village / Settlement 

Spring Cottage 64 1.2 - 1.6 Overseal Other Village / Settlement 

Appleby Parva 52 1.2 - 1.6 Appleby Magna Other Village / Settlement 

Chilcote 48   Other Village / Settlement 

Tonge 47   Other Village / Settlement 

New Packington 38   Other Village / Settlement 

Cavendish Bridge 25   Other Village / Settlement 

Boothorpe 18   Other Village / Settlement 

Isley Walton 15   Other Village / Settlement 

Farm Town 14   Other Village / Settlement 

Stretton en le Field 9   Other Village / Settlement 

 

30



North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 17 of 21 
 

7. Settlement Study results 
 
7.1  Each settlement was audited using the approach detailed at section 3. The full assessments 

are set out at Appendix B, these detail the full range of services and facilities identified 
within and accessible to each settlement, together with the scores for each section on the 
proforma. 

 
7.2 The findings of the current study in Table 4.1 are mostly consistent with the findings of the 

previous settlement hierarchy study carried out in June 2016. The current study confirms 
the sustainable settlements and their position in the hierarchy in Table 5.1, to this end the 
top 4 tiers of the existing settlement hierarchy would only be changed by the addition of 
Woodville (part) as a Sustainable Village. 

 
7.3 With the proposed addition of a new policy relating to Local Housing Needs the bottom 

two tiers were looked at with the previous Small Village designation being replaced with 
the Local Housing Needs Village designation and the Hamlet designation being replaced 
with Other Village / Settlement. Again, these results were very similar to the existing 
settlement hierarchy with 1 village (Boundary) moving into the Local Housing Need Village 
designation1 and 2 villages (Spring Cottage and Tonge) moving to the Other Village/ 
Settlement designation. 

 
7.4  The Local Housing Needs designation allows for some villages to grow and thrive and it is 

important to note that the provision of services and facilities is not fixed and can evolve 
over time according to market forces or changing work and travel patterns, so this 
hierarchy represents the current position. Table 7.1 shows the proposed Settlement 
Hierarchy for North West Leicestershire District for 2021. 

 
Table 7.1: Proposed Settlement Hierarchy Results 

Tier Settlements included 

Principal Town Coalville Urban Area which comprises of Coalville, Donington-
le-Heath, Greenhill, Hugglescote, Snibston, Thringstone and 
Whitwick as well as the Bardon employment area. 

Key Service 
Centre 

Ashby de la Zouch 
Castle Donington 

Local Service 
Centre 

Ibstock 
Kegworth  
Measham 

Sustainable 
Villages 

Albert Village, Appleby Magna, Belton, Blackfordby, Breedon 
on the Hill, Coleorton (the Lower Moor Road area only), 
Diseworth, Donisthorpe, Ellistown, Heather, Long Whatton, 
Moira (including Norris Hill), Oakthorpe, Packington, 
Ravenstone, Swannington, Woodville (part), Worthington. 

Local Housing 
Needs Village 

Battram, Boundary, Coleorton (the part not considered to be a 
Sustainable Village), Griffydam, Hemington, Lockington, 
Lount, Newbold, Newton Burgoland, Normanton le Heath, 
Osgathorpe, Peggs Green, Sinope, Snarestone, Swepstone, 
Wilson 

                                                           
1 In the adopted Local Plan the text makes it clear that Normanton le Heath was included as a Small village in 
but was inadvertently missed from policy S2.  

31



North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 18 of 21 
 

Other Villages / 
Settlements 

Those not listed above 

 
  

32



North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 19 of 21 
 

 

Appendix A: Current Settlement Hierarchy 
 
 

Settlement Classification Settlement(s) 

Principal Town  

The primary settlement in the district which 

provides an extensive range of services and 

facilities including employment, leisure and 

shopping and which is accessible by sustainable 

transport from surrounding areas and to other 

large settlements outside the district. The 

largest amount of new development will be 

directed here, including retail development, to 

support the regeneration of Coalville Town 

Centre. 

 

Coalville Urban Area which 

comprises of Coalville, 

Donington-le-Heath, Greenhill, 

Hugglescote, Snibston, 

Thringstone and Whitwick as 

well as the Bardon 

employment area. 

Key Service Centre 

Smaller than the Principal Town in terms of 

population and also the range of services and 

facilities they provide, they play an important 

role providing services and facilities to the 

surrounding area and are accessible by some 

sustainable transport.  A significant amount of 

development will take place in these 

settlements but less than that in the Principal 

Town. 

 

Ashby de la Zouch  

Castle Donington  

Local Service Centre 

Settlements which provide some services and 

facilities primarily of a local nature meeting day-

to-day needs and where a reasonable amount 

of new development will take place. 

 

Ibstock 

Kegworth 

Measham 

Sustainable Villages 

Settlements which have a limited range of 

services and facilities where a limited amount of 

growth will take place within the defined Limits 

to Development. 

Albert Village, Appleby Magna, 

Belton, Blackfordby, Breedon 

on the Hill, Coleorton (the 

Lower Moor Road area only), 

Diseworth, Donisthorpe, 

Ellistown, Heather, Long 

Whatton, Moira (including 

Norris Hill), Oakthorpe, 

Packington, Ravenstone, 

Swannington, Worthington. 

33



North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 20 of 21 
 

Small Village 

Settlements with very limited services and 

where development will be restricted to 

conversions of existing buildings or the 

redevelopment of previously developed land (as 

defined in the National Planning Policy 

Framework) or affordable housing in 

accordance with Policy H5 (Rural Exceptions 

Sites for Affordable Housing).  

Battram, Coleorton (the part 

not considered to be a 

Sustainable Village), 

Griffydam, Hemington, 

Lockington, Lount, Newbold, 

Newton Burgoland, 

Osgathorpe, Peggs Green, 

Sinope, Snarestone, 

Swepstone, Spring Cottage, 

Tonge, Wilson. 

Hamlets 

Small groups of dwellings with no services and 

facilities and where development will be 

considered in the context of the countryside 

policy (Policy S3). 

 

 

 

  

34



North West Leicestershire District Council Settlement Hierarchy Survey 2021 

Page 21 of 21 
 

Appendix B: Settlement proformas and maps 
 
 
To be inserted. 
 
Not included at this time due to size of document. 

35



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C 
 

 
Possible local connection criteria  
 

  Existing resident in the parish within which the application is located for a continuous 
period of at least 10 years prior to an application being submitted; or  

  The person requires frequent attention and/or care due to age, ill health, disability 
and/or infirmity as demonstrated by written evidence from a medical doctor or 
relevant statutory support agency and therefore has an essential need to live close to 
a close family member who currently reside in the parish within which the application 
is located and have done so for a continuous period of at least 10 years and; or  

  The person has an essential need to provide support , as demonstrated by written 
evidence from a medical doctor or relevant statutory support agency, for a close 
family member who currently reside in the parish within which the application is 
located and have done so for a continuous period of at least 10 years; or  

  The existing accommodation of the proposed occupant must be located within the 
parish and be no longer suitable for their needs due to its size or is difficult to get 
around due to ill health or disability as demonstrated by written evidence from a 
medical doctor or relevant statutory support agency; or  

  No longer resident in the parish within which the application is located but has 
previously resided in the parish for a period of at least 10 years within the last twenty 
years 

 

37



This page is intentionally left blank



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE – 27 OCTOBER 2021 
 
 

Title of Report 
 

LOCAL PLAN SUBSTANTIVE REVIEW - 
DEVELOPMENTSTRATEGY 

Presented by Ian Nelson 
Planning Policy and Land Charges Team Manager 

Background Papers National Planning Policy 
Framework  
 
Planning Practice 
Guidance  
 
Local Plan Substantive 
Review: Interim 
Sustainability Appraisal 
Report of the Spatial 
Options  
 
Report to Local Plan 
Committee 10 December 
2020 
 
Report to Local Plan 
Committee 31 March 2021 
 
Strategic Housing and 
Economic Land Availability 
Assessment  
 
Adopted North West 
Leicestershire Local plan 
 
start-to-finish_what-
factors-affect-the-build-out-
rates-of-large-scale-
housing-sites.pdf 
(lichfields.uk) 
 
Labour Market Profile – 
North West Leicestershire  
Nomis Labour Market 
Profile - Nomis - Official 
Labour Market Statistics 
(nomisweb.co.uk) 
 

Public Report: Yes 
 

Financial Implications The cost of the Sustainability Appraisal study is met from 
existing budgets which are reviewed as part of the annual 
budget setting process. 

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 
 

39

Agenda Item 6

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/sustainability_appraisal_of_the_spatial_options/C290_NWL%20Options%20Interim%20SA%20Report_3.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/sustainability_appraisal_of_the_spatial_options/C290_NWL%20Options%20Interim%20SA%20Report_3.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/sustainability_appraisal_of_the_spatial_options/C290_NWL%20Options%20Interim%20SA%20Report_3.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/sustainability_appraisal_of_the_spatial_options/C290_NWL%20Options%20Interim%20SA%20Report_3.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/sustainability_appraisal_of_the_spatial_options/C290_NWL%20Options%20Interim%20SA%20Report_3.pdf
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/documents/s29513/Local%20Plan%20Update%20Local%20Plan%20Committee%20Report.pdf
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/documents/s29513/Local%20Plan%20Update%20Local%20Plan%20Committee%20Report.pdf
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/documents/s29513/Local%20Plan%20Update%20Local%20Plan%20Committee%20Report.pdf
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/documents/s31427/Local%20Plan%20Substantive%20Review%20-%20Housing%20Requirements%20Local%20Plan%20Committee%20Report.pdf
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/documents/s31427/Local%20Plan%20Substantive%20Review%20-%20Housing%20Requirements%20Local%20Plan%20Committee%20Report.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/strategic_housing_and_economic_land_availabilty_assessment
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/strategic_housing_and_economic_land_availabilty_assessment
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/strategic_housing_and_economic_land_availabilty_assessment
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/local_plan
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/local_plan
https://lichfields.uk/media/5779/start-to-finish_what-factors-affect-the-build-out-rates-of-large-scale-housing-sites.pdf
https://lichfields.uk/media/5779/start-to-finish_what-factors-affect-the-build-out-rates-of-large-scale-housing-sites.pdf
https://lichfields.uk/media/5779/start-to-finish_what-factors-affect-the-build-out-rates-of-large-scale-housing-sites.pdf
https://lichfields.uk/media/5779/start-to-finish_what-factors-affect-the-build-out-rates-of-large-scale-housing-sites.pdf
https://lichfields.uk/media/5779/start-to-finish_what-factors-affect-the-build-out-rates-of-large-scale-housing-sites.pdf
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157146/report.aspx
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157146/report.aspx
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157146/report.aspx
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157146/report.aspx


Legal Implications It is necessary as part of the preparation of the Local Plan 
to consider reasonable alternatives. The Local Plan Review 
process as a whole must accord with the legal requirements 
set out in legislation and guidance. 
 

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 
 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 
 

No staffing implications associated with the specific content 
of this report. Links with the Council’s Priorities are set out 
at the end of the report.  

Signed off by the Head of Paid Service: Yes 
 

Purpose of Report The purpose of this report is to consider the outcome from 

the Sustainability Appraisal of the growth scenarios and 

potential distribution options alongside other relevant 

information to then be able to determine what, at this stage, 

are: 

 the preferred growth scenario 

 the preferred distribution option 

Recommendations THAT THE LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE AGREES THAT 
AT THIS STAGE THE FOLLOWING ARE THE 
PREFERRED HOUSING GROWTH AND DISTRIBUTION 
OPTIONS AND THAT THESE BE TAKEN FORWARD 
FOR CONSULTATION 

I) HIGH 1 GROWTH SCENARIO (1,000 
DWELLINGS) – DISTRIBUTION OPTION 3A; 
AND  

II) HIGH 2 GROWTH SCENARIO (5,100 
DWELLINGS) – DISTRIBUTION OPTION 7B  

 

1 INTRODUCTION  

1.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2021 paragraph 20) requires that 

strategic policies in plans should “set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale and 

design quality of places and make sufficient provision for: a) housing (including 

affordable housing), employment, retail, leisure and other commercial development 

…” .  

1.2  Therefore, a key part of the local plan preparation process is to set out a 

development strategy that identifies both: 

 the overall amount of new development that needs to be provided for, 

principally housing and employment, and 

 where this development should go. 

1.3 There is no single right approach, but to satisfy the test of soundness it must be 

(NPPF paragraph 35) “an appropriate strategy, taking in to account the reasonable 

alternatives, and based on proportionate evidence”. 

1.4 The purpose of this report is to consider and agree what an appropriate development 

strategy for the Local Plan might be. 

1.5 The report includes the following sections: 

40



 A summary of previous reports on this matter; 

 An outline of what a Sustainability Appraisal is; 

 An outline of the growth scenarios; 

 An outline of the distribution options; 

 An outline of the outcome from the Sustainability Appraisal; 

 An outline of other considerations to be taken in to account; 

 A discussion regarding which growth scenarios should be preferred at this 

stage; 

 A discussion which distribution options should be preferred at this stage; 

 A summary and; 

 Next steps 

 

2 PREVIOUS REPORTS 

2.1 As a recap for Members this section of the report outlines reports to date on this 

matter.  

Local Plan Committee 10 December 2020 

2.2 This report, amongst other matters, outlined the need for the Local Plan review to 

consider the future development strategy. It outlined the need to consider reasonable 

alternatives as part of the Sustainability Appraisal process. The report also identified 

a number of potential options in respect of future housing requirements.  

2.3 The report can be viewed from the link at the beginning of this report.  

Local Plan Committee 31 March 2021 

2.4 Immediately prior to Christmas 2020 the government announced changes to the 

standard method. This necessitated a need to reconsider the issue of housing 

requirements.  This was done in a further report to this Committee at its meeting of 

31 March 2021. This report noted that as a result of the changes the level of unmet 

need in Leicester City had increased to about 18,000 dwellings (up from about 

8,000).  

2.5 It was also noted that the discussion amongst the Leicester and Leicestershire 

authorities to resolve this issue was continuing, but that until there was agreement 

amongst all of the authorities there would not be absolute certainty about the level of 

housing which needed to be planned for as part of the Local Plan review. 

2.6 The report proposed, and it was agreed, to test a range of potential annual housing 

requirements through the Sustainability Appraisal process.  

These were: 

 359 dwellings (standard method) (or such other figure following the 

publication of new affordability data)  

 448 dwellings (HEDNA)  

 512 dwellings (Strategic Growth Plan)  

 730 dwellings (2018-based household projections plus allowance for vacancy 

rate) 

2.7 The report also noted that these options resulted in the following over 

provision/shortfall: 

41



 

Scenario 
 

Annual 
Amount 

Total 
Requirement 

2020-39 

Total 
projected 
provision 

Over 
provision/
Shortfall 

Standard Method 359 6,103 8,784 +2,681 

HEDNA 448 8,512 8,784 +272 

Strategic Growth Plan  512 9,728 8,784 -944 

2018-based projections  730 13,870 8,784 -5,086 

 

2.8 It should be noted that these figures were based on data as at April 2020. As the plan 

moves forward it will be necessary to update the base date for the plan.  

2.9 The report (paragraph 6.1) also noted that: 

“The four growth scenarios outlined above will be taken forward for testing as part of 

the Sustainability Appraisal process. It will be necessary to develop scenarios for 

how any additional growth might be distributed across the district. For example, one 

option would be to mirror the split of development in the adopted Local Plan, whilst 

another option might be to focus growth upon the main settlements such as Coalville, 

Ashby de la Zouch or Castle Donington whilst other options might include a new 

settlement.” 

2.10 The report can be viewed from the link at the beginning of this report.  

3 WHAT IS A SUSTAINABILITY APPRAISAL?  

3.1 Before outlining the options that have been developed and tested and the outcome, it 

is considered it would be helpful to outline for members’ benefit what a Sustainability 

Appraisal is and its role.  

3.2 Sustainability Appraisal (SA) is a tool used to appraise planning policy documents in 

order to promote sustainable development. It is a legal requirement (sections 19 of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004) as well as being required by the 

NPPF (July 2021). 

3.3 The SA does not make a decision, but instead it informs a decision alongside other 

relevant factors that are not taken into account as part of the SA process such as 

viability and deliverability.  

3.4 It is an iterative process (i.e. a continuous process of refinement carried on through 

the life of preparing the Local Plan in response to new information). In particular, it is 

used to assess ‘reasonable alternatives’ which a plan must consider in order to meet 

the test of being ‘sound’.  

3.5 The SA is undertaken on behalf of the Council by its consultants who are SA experts. 

This helps to provide a degree of independent verification.  

3.6 Policies and proposals are assessed against a range of social, environmental and 

economic objectives (referred to as a Sustainability Appraisal Framework) to 

understand how they will contribute towards the sustainable development of the 

district. In the case of the North West Leicestershire Sustainability Appraisal, there 

are a total of 17 Sustainability Objectives (numbered SA1 to SA17). A full list of the 

SA Objectives is set out at Appendix A of this report. 

42



3.7 Typically, a Red, Amber, Green (RAG) status is used to denote whether a policy or 

proposal is likely to be negative (Red) or more positive (Green) and also includes an 

assessment of the significance of any effect (for example, is it a significant positive or 

negative effect or is in a minor positive or negative effects). The effects are also 

considered in terms of whether they are direct, indirect or cumulative.  

3.8 Results are typically shown in a matrix to provide an overview, as well as providing 

an easy comparison between the options, and then supported by more detailed 

assessments.  

3.9 The various options identified (see section 5 and 6of this report) were assessed 

against the Sustainability Appraisal Framework and rated using a combination of a 

RAG rating and a significance score. As the assessment was based primarily on 

available Geographical Information System (GIS) data a number of objectives (SA5 

(Economy), SA7 (Employment) and SA16 (Water resources)) were not included as 

part of the assessment.  

3.10 A copy of the SA Interim Report can be viewed from this link. 

4 WHAT GROWTH SCENARIOS WERE CONSIDERED? 

4.1 The scenarios assessed were those agreed by LPC on 31 March 2021, save for the 

fact that the standard method figure was revised up to 368 dwellings as a result of a 

change to the affordability ratio used to inform the standard method calculation. 

Therefore, the following scenarios were used: 

 368 dwellings (standard method) – referred to as Low scenario  

 448 dwellings (HEDNA) – referred to as Medium scenario 

 512 dwellings (Strategic Growth Plan) – referred to as High1 scenario 

 730 dwellings (2018-based household projections) – referred to as High 2 

scenario 

4.2 This report hereafter refers to these scenarios as Low/ Medium/High 1 and High 2. 

5 WHAT DISTRIBUTION OPTIONS WERE CONSIDERED? 

5.1 The starting point for developing potential distribution options was the settlement 

hierarchy established in the adopted Local Plan. The settlement hierarchy 

distinguishes between the roles and functions of different settlements, with the 

respective position in the hierarchy determined by the availability of services and 

facilities that communities need (i.e. settlements with a similar range and level or 

services and facilities are at the same level in the hierarchy).  

5.2 A summary of the current settlement hierarchy is set out in Appendix B of this report.  

5.3 The Council’s Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment 

(SHELAA) of 2019 included the identification of two sites located south of the airport 

and adjoining each other and which separately had been proposed as potential new 

settlements of 2,400 and 2,340 dwellings respectively (site references IW1 and IW2). 

Subsequently, the two site promoters agreed to work together to promote a single 

new settlement (site IW1 in the 2021 SHELAA).  

5.4 Therefore, it was considered appropriate to include a New Settlement as a potential 

option in combination with other Options but also on its own.  

43

https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/sustainability_appraisal_of_the_spatial_options/C290_NWL%20Options%20Interim%20SA%20Report_3.pdf


5.5 The 2021 version of the SHELAA also identified a further potential new settlement to 

the west of Belton (site Be4). However, it was concluded that the site was not 

suitable, not available and not achievable. Therefore, this is not considered to be a 

reasonable alternative and so does not form part of the New Settlement option. 

5.6 In total 9 options were developed as set out below. 

Table 1 – spatial distribution options 

Option 1 As per adopted Local Plan  

Option 2 Principal Town and Key Service Centres 

Option 3 Principal Town and Key Service Centres and Local Service 
Centres 

Option 4 Principal Town and New settlement   

Option 5 Principal Town, New settlement and Key Service Centres 

Option 6 Principal Town, New settlement and Key Service Centres and 
Local Service Centres 

Option 7 Principal Town, New settlement and Key Service Centres and 
Local Service Centres and Sustainable Villages 

Option 8 New settlement  

Option 9 Principal Town, New settlement and Key Service Centres and 
Local Service Centres, Sustainable Villages and Small Villages  

 

5.7 A report elsewhere on the agenda for this meeting considers some minor changes to 

the settlement hierarchy. In particular, it proposes to change the Small Villages 

category to Local Housing Needs Villages. It also proposes that a number of 

settlements which were previously identified as Small Villages are not identified as 

Local Housing Needs Villages. Whilst this is different to the options which have been 

tested as part of the SA, it is considered that this does not change the outcome of the 

scoring as essentially the Small Villages/Local Housing Needs Villages are 

settlements where development is very restricted.  

5.8 As was noted in the report to Local Plan Committee on 31 March 2021, when 

account is taken of commitments which are likely to be built by 2039 (the proposed 

end date for the Local Plan Review) then both the Low scenario (368 dwellings) and 

the Medium scenario (448 dwellings) would not require any additional land to be 

allocated. In contrast, the High 1 option results in a residual requirement of about 

1,000 dwellings and High 2 a residual requirement of about 5,100 dwellings and so 

both these would require the allocation of additional land for housing development.  

5.9 As Option 1 (As per adopted Local plan) would not require any new allocations and 

so there is no change to the baseline as set out in the adopted Local Plan, this option 

has only been tested against the low and medium scenarios.  

5.10 Of the remaining options, Options 2-7 and Option 9 have been assessed against the 

High 1 and High 2 scenarios, whilst Option 8 was only assessed against the High 2 

scenario as the residual requirement under the High 1 scenario (about 1,000 

dwellings) would be too small to deliver the necessary infrastructure and supporting 

facilities and so was not considered to be a reasonable alternative.  

5.11 For Options 2-7 and Option 9, various theoretical amounts of growth were assigned 

to the different settlement categories so as to test the potential sustainability 

implications. For example, in Option 2 growth levels of 600 dwellings and 3,060 

dwellings were considered for the Coalville area under the High1 and High 2 

44



scenarios respectively. It is important to note that the figures are for settlement 

categories rather than individual settlements (with the exception of the Coalville 

Urban Area which is in a category of its own). 

5.12 It is important to note that the figures for settlement categories are not absolutes – 

i.e. they can go higher or lower, but this would need to assessed as part of later 

iteration. At this stage the purpose is to provide some approximate proportions to test 

the various options for their likely effects.   

5.13 These options are combined with the different growth scenarios to result in 16 

options for distribution (the spatial options) as set out below 

Table 2 – spatial and growth options tested  

Option 
No  

Description  

Low and Medium scenario (368-448 dwellings) 

Option 
1  

Baseline Option (Continuation of adopted Local Plan) 

High 1 scenario (1,000 dwellings) 

Option 
2a  

Principal Town (Coalville – 600 dwellings) and Key Service 
Centres (KSC) (Castle Donington and Ashby de la Zouch – 400 
dwellings)  

Option 
3a 

Principal Town (500 dwellings), Key Service Centres (300 
dwellings) and Local Service Centres (LSC) (200 dwellings) 

Option 
4a 

Principal Town (400 dwellings) and New Settlement (600 
dwellings) 

Option 
5a 

Principal Town (450 dwellings), New Settlement (450 dwellings) 
and KSC (100 dwellings) 

Option 
6a 

Principal Town (350 dwellings), New Settlement (350 dwellings), 
KSC (200 dwellings) and LSC (100 dwellings) 

Option 
7a 

Principal Town (350 dwellings), New Settlement (350 dwellings), 
KSC (150 dwellings), LSC (100 dwellings) and Sustainable 
Villages (50 dwellings) 

Option 
9a 

Principal Town (200 dwellings), New Settlement (350 dwellings), 
KSC 90 dwellings), LSC (50 dwellings), Sustainable Villages (270 
dwellings) and Small Villages (40 dwellings) 

New Settlement (5,100 dwellings) 

Option 
8 

New Settlement  

High 2 scenario (5,100 dwellings) 

Option 
2b 

Principal Town (3,060 dwellings) and Key Service Centres (2,040 
dwellings))  

Option 
3b 

Principal Town (2,550 dwellings), Key Service Centres (1,530 
dwellings) and LSC (1,020 dwellings) 

Option 
4b 

Principal Town (2,040 dwellings) and New Settlement (3,060 
dwellings) 

Option 
5b 

Principal Town (2,295 dwellings), New Settlement (2,295 
dwellings) and KSC (510 dwellings) 

Option 
6b 

Principal Town (1,785 dwellings), New Settlement (1,785 
dwellings), KSC (1,020 dwellings) and LSC (510 dwellings) 

Option 
7b 

Principal Town (1,785 dwellings), New Settlement (1,785 
dwellings), KSC (765 dwellings), LSC (510 dwellings) and 
Sustainable Villages (255 dwellings) 

45



Option 
9b 

Principal Town (1,020 dwellings), New Settlement (1,785 
dwellings), KSC (459 dwellings), LSC (255 dwellings), Sustainable 
Villages (1,377 dwellings) and Small Villages (204 dwellings) 

 

6  WHAT WAS THE OUTCOME FROM THE SUSTAINABILITY APPRAISAL? 

6.1 A copy of the SA report can be viewed from this link. A summary of the results can 

be found on pages 37 and 38. 

6.2 Before considering the outcome from the SA assessment, it is important to note that 

the assessment is what is known as a ’high level assessment’ as at this stage there 

are not specific details of which sites would make up any specific option. Depending 

upon which specific sites eventually make up the development strategy could change 

the scoring.  

6.3 It should also be noted that no mitigation measures are allowed for in the 

assessment. The inclusion of possible mitigation measures at later stage may alter 

some of the initial judgements. For example, landscaping provisions as part of a 

development could mitigate the impact upon the surrounding landscape (SA13). 

Similarly, at this stage the appraisal of options it is not possible to assess the 

potential for cumulative effects in full (cumulative effects do need to be taken fully in 

to account and so will be addressed at the stage when site options are assessed). 

6.4 This is the standard approach to SA, which it has already been noted is an iterative 

process.  

6.5 All of this means that SA Objectives SA12 (Bio/geodiversity), SA13 

(Landscape/Townscape) and SA14 (Land Use) record negative impacts against the 

majority of options or uncertainty against all other options (save for option 1). This is 

partly because, as already noted, no mitigation measures are identified as part of the 

assessment undertaken. It is reasonable to assume that if specific sites associated 

with each of the options were known then appropriate mitigation measures would 

improve the scoring.  

6.6 In addition, except for option 8, the majority of options record a negative score 

against SA1 (Health) and SA2 (Inequalities). This is largely because the exact 

location of development sites has yet to be determined and depending upon which 

sites are allocated and the amount of development could again change the scoring.  

6.7 Conversely, other than option 1, all options perform positively against SA4 (Housing) 

and most perform positively against SA6 and half perform well against SA10 (Carbon 

emissions). 

6.8 The following summary of the results is taken from the SA Report (page 39): 

Generally, all options except Option 1 (as per the local plan) have performed 
positively in relation to SA4 (good quality homes to meet local need), as they will 
aid in the delivery of housing to meet local needs. In particular, Options 7a, 7b, 9a 
and 9b will deliver housing throughout all areas of the District. Those options which 
deliver greater levels of housing are likely to further enhance this potential positive 
effect.  
 
SA6 (enhance the vitality and viability of existing town and village centres) has 
generally scored positively for options which focus development into existing town 
and village centres, as this is expected to help increase footfall and subsequently 

46

https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/sustainability_appraisal_of_the_spatial_options/C290_NWL%20Options%20Interim%20SA%20Report_3.pdf


vitality of the areas. The exceptions for this are Option 8, which focusses 
development into a single new settlement area and Options 9a and 9b, which allow 
for development to occur in some rural settlements.  
 
It is also noted that options which focus development into already urbanised town 
centre and key service centre areas (Options 1 to 4b) have been recorded as 
having potential for a positive effect on SA10 (reduce carbon emissions). This is 
due to there being greater opportunities in urban areas for potential development 
to be located near to significant waste heat sources, which could be used in district 
heating networks, particularly on larger sites.  
 
In contrast, Options 4a-9b, which encourage development across the District, 
including within a new settlement, have been identified as options with potential for 
greater adverse negative effects on SA13 (conserve and enhance the quality of the 
District’s landscape and townscape character). This is due to higher proportions of 
development being directed into a new settlement area and the rural areas of the 
district. 
 
As described in Section 2.1, Option 8 (‘New Settlement SW of East Midlands 
Airport’) would create a new settlement within the District and focus all 
development into a single location. There is therefore a disparity between the 
performance of this option and most other options, as there is potential to cluster 
future infrastructure need (and as a consequence, development of required 
services) into a single area. There are some Local Wildlife Sites and one Ancient 
Woodland site located near to the potential new settlement which may experience 
indirect negative effects from development on SA12 (to protect and enhance the 
District’s biodiversity and protect areas identified for their nature conservation and 
geological importance). The development of 5,100 homes in this area of the District 
could also increase recreational pressure, which could degrade current sensitive 
biological and geodiversity receptors. Hence, a potential significant negative effect 
has been identified for this option in relation to SA12.  
 
Uncertainty has been recorded in the assessment of most options for SA15 
(conserve and enhance the character, diversity, and local distinctiveness of the 
District’s built and historic heritage), and SA17 (ensure efficient use of natural 
resources including waste generation), as development impacts on the historic 
environment and natural resources are hard to determine without specific details of 
development sites and design. It may be possible for these uncertain effects to be 
mitigated through Local Plan policies which focus on design which is considerate 
and complimentary to such receptors.  
 
Overall, the assessment has found that Options 1, 7a, 7b, 8, 9a and 9b tend to 
perform better and have more potential significant positive effects compared with 
the other options where no potential significant positive effects were identified. A 
higher number of potential significant negative effects were also recorded for the 
High 2 (5,100 dwellings) growth options (2b, 3b, 4b, 5b, 6b, 7b and 9b), due to the 
greater level of development required compared with High 1 (1,100 dwellings).  
 
To conclude, once further details and evidence base become available this should 
improve the certainty of these assessments and could modify some uncertain 
effects identified, which will help further inform the development of a ‘preferred 
spatial strategy option’. This will be developed following consultation and 
engagement on the Spatial Strategy Options and through the consideration of site 
allocations and policies against the agreed SA framework. 

 

47



7 OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

7.1 The SA is not the only consideration that needs to be taken in to account when 

determining which of the growth scenarios and distribution options should be taken 

forward. Ultimately, whatever development strategy is included in the plan must be 

consistent with national policies. In particular, this means planning for the appropriate 

amount of development by having regard to not only the outcome from the standard 

method, but also other factors which will influence future housing needs.  In addition, 

any strategy, and subsequently allocation, must be deliverable. For a Local Plan to 

be considered ‘sound’ it must be effective; that is “deliverable over the plan period” 

(NPPF paragraph 35). 

7.2 Therefore, the following sections of this report have regard to not only the SA 

assessment, but also other factors in considering the relative merits of the scenarios 

and options.  

8 WHICH GROWTH OPTION(S) SHOULD BE PREFERRED AT THIS STAGE? 

8.1 Before considering the various spatial options, consideration is given to which of the 

growth scenarios are the most appropriate to take forward at this stage.  

8.2 For ease of reference these scenarios were: 

 Low scenario - 368 dwellings (standard method) 

 Medium scenario - 448 dwellings (HEDNA)  

 High 1 scenario - 512 dwellings (Strategic Growth Plan)  

 High 2 scenario - 730 dwellings (2018-based household projections plus 

allowance for vacancy rate) 

8.3 National policy is clear that when setting a housing requirement the starting point is 

the standard method developed by the government. For example, the National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (paragraph 61) is clear that “To determine the 

minimum number of homes needed, strategic policies should be informed by a local 

housing need assessment, conducted using the standard method in national planning 

guidance – unless exceptional circumstances justify an alternative approach which 

also reflects current and future demographic trends and market signals. In addition to 

the local housing need figure, any needs that cannot be met within neighbouring 

areas should also be taken into account in establishing the amount of housing to be 

planned for.”  

8.4  Further guidance is provided by the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) which 

identifies (Paragraph: 010 Reference ID: 2a-010-20201216) a number of 

circumstances when it might be appropriate to plan for a higher housing need figure 

because of: growth strategies for the area that are likely to be deliverable, for 

example where funding is in place to promote and facilitate additional growth (e.g. 

Housing Deals); or 

 an authority agreeing to take on unmet need from neighbouring authorities, 

as set out in a statement of common ground; or  

 where previous levels of housing delivery in an area, or previous 

assessments of need (such as a recently produced Strategic Housing 

Market Assessment) are significantly greater than the outcome from the 

standard method. 

48



8.5 From the above there are a number of factors which will influence whether a local 

housing need figure should be higher than the outcome from the standard method: 

 demographic trends  

 build rates (market signals) 

 unmet need  

 deliverable growth strategies 

 

8.6 Each of these is considered below.  

Demographic trends 

8.7 The latest demographic trends are provided by the 2018-based household 

projections. These have been rejected by the government for use with the standard 

method, but this does not mean they are irrelevant. The projections contain 5 

different projections as set out below: 

Projection Annual 
household 

growth 
2020-39 

10-year variant 370 

Alternative internal 570 

Principal (or Main) Projection 707 

Low International migration 661 

High international migration  752 

 

Build rates (market signals) 

8.8 The reference to market signals in the NPPF could be taken to refer to build rates as 

an indicator of market demand.  Since the start of the adopted Local Plan (2011) 

build rates have averaged 619 dwellings per annum (2011-21), although a higher 

figure (770 dwellings) has been achieved since 2016/17.  

8.9 The 10-year average is 29% more than that required in the adopted Local Plan (481 

dwellings per annum) and 68% more than the standard method (i.e. the Low 

scenario).  

8.10 The latest Housing and Economic Development Assessment (which equates to a 

Strategic Housing Market Assessment) is from 2017 and includes two requirement 

figures: one to 2031 (481 dwellings) and one to 2036 (448 dwellings). Build rates are 

significantly more than both of these.  

Unmet need 

8.11 As already noted, discussions amongst the Leicester and Leicestershire authorities 

to resolve the issue of how to redistribute the unmet need from Leicester City of 

about 18,000 dwellings are continuing under the Duty to Cooperate, including 

considering alternative options for redistribution.  

8.12 Whilst there is not an agreement at this time, it is reasonable to assume that some of 

this is likely to be redirected towards North West Leicestershire. 

 

49



Deliverable growth strategy 

8.13 Members will be aware that there is a Strategic Growth Plan (SGP) in place for 

Leicester and Leicestershire. This identifies a figure for North West Leicestershire for 

2031-50 of 512 dwellings per annum. This figure allows for a degree of redistribution 

from Leicester City and also Oadby and Wigston as unmet need was understood at 

the time that the SGP was prepared.  Based on more recent information the level of 

unmet need is now greater than anticipated. This scale of growth (i.e. 512 dwellings 

per annum) is likely to be deliverable based on the available evidence, including the 

recently published Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment 

(SHELAA). 

8.14 The following table considers each of the growth scenarios against these factors  

Table 3– Growth scenarios compared to factors  

Growth 
Scenario 

Factors 

Demographic 
trends 

Build rates 
(market 
signals) 

Unmet need Deliverable 
growth 
strategy 

Low scenario 
(368 dwellings 
per annum) 

This scenario is 
below each of 
the 5 main 
projections. 

These are 68% 
more than the 
standard 
method (i.e. the 
Low scenario). 
As such this 
must be 
regarded as 
being 
“significantly 
greater than the 
outcome from 
the standard 
method” as 
advised in the 
PPG 

National policy 
is clear that the 
standard 
method is the 
minimum 
requirement 
and any unmet 
need should 
then be added 
to this. This 
scenario does 
not allow for 
this to happen 
and so would 
conflict with 
national policy. 
If the Council 
was to resist 
taking any 
unmet need this 
would raise 
significant 
issues for the 
Local Plan in 
respect of the 
Duty to 
Cooperate. 

The growth 
envisaged in 
the SGP is 
significantly 
more than 
allowed for 
under this 
scenario and 
assumed a 
lower level of 
unmet need 
from Leicester 
City.  

Medium 
scenario (448 
dwellings per 
annum) 

This scenario is 
above the 10-
year variant 
projection, but 
otherwise 
significantly 
below the other 
4 projections, 

These are 38% 
more than 
allowed for 
under this 
scenario which 
is based on a 
lower figure 
than the 

Under this 
scenario there 
would be a 
reasonable 
buffer of 80 
dwellings per 
annum 
compared to 

The growth 
envisaged in 
the SGP is 
more than 
allowed for 
under this 
scenario.  
 

50



including being 
58% below the 
Principal 
Projection. 

adopted Local 
Plan (481 
dwellings) and 
is based on the 
2017 Housing 
and Economic 
Development 
Needs 
Assessment. 

the standard 
method. 

High 1 
scenario (512 
dwellings per 
annum) 

This scenario is 
above the 10-
year variant 
projection, but 
otherwise 
significantly 
below the other 
4 projections, 
including being 
38% below the 
Principal 
Projection.  

These are 21% 
more than 
allowed for 
under this 
scenario, even 
though it is 
based on a 
higher figure 
than the 
adopted Local 
Plan (481 
dwellings). 
 

Under this 
scenario there 
would be a 
reasonable 
buffer of 144 
dwellings per 
annum 
compared to 
the standard 
method.  
 

The growth 
allowed for in 
this scenario is 
the same as 
that in the SGP.  
 

High 2 
scenario (730 
dwellings per 
annum) 

This scenario is 
above all the 
projections, 
other than the 
High 
International 
Migration 
projection. It is 
3% more than 
the Principal 
Projection.  

These are 18% 
less than 
allowed for 
under this 
scenario, 
although more 
recent rates are 
above this. 
 

Under this 
scenario there 
would be a 
significant 
buffer of 362 
dwellings per 
annum 
compared to 
the standard 
method.  
 

The growth 
allowed for 
under this 
scenario is 
significantly 
more than 
envisaged in 
the SGP.  
 

 

Overall conclusion regarding growth scenarios 

8.15 Having regard to the various factors it is concluded that: 

Low scenario - this would not be an appropriate basis on which to continue planning 

for future as it performs poorly against all the factors. 

Medium scenario – Having regard to the above factors, it is considered that the 

medium scenario would not be an appropriate basis on which to continue planning 

for future. Whilst the level of growth would provide a buffer for accommodating any 

unmet need from Leicester City, over the plan period this would represent about 

1,500 dwellings. However, the unmet need is about 18,000 dwellings and so the 

buffer may not be sufficient. Planning for this level of growth would represent a risk 

and potentially require additional work at a later date.  

High 1 scenario – this scenario is more balanced in terms of these factors than either 

the Low or Medium scenarios. The level of growth would provide a good buffer for 

accommodating unmet need from Leicester City, although it is not clear at this time 

whether it would be sufficient and so it would still represent a risk. This level of 

growth is consistent with the SGP. However, the level of growth is well below both 

51



demographic trends and build rates. On balance, it is considered that it represents a 

potentially suitable scenario. 

High 2 scenario - Having regard to all of the factors, this scenario clearly performs 

the best.  It provides a very significant degree of flexibility to help address issues of 

unmet need.  The PPG also notes that the standard method “does not attempt to 

predict the impact that future government policies, changing economic circumstances 

or other factors might have on demographic behaviour”. In terms of economic 

circumstances, the district is already a net importer of labour as measured using the 

Office for National Statistics job density rate which results in in-commuting to the 

district. This trend is almost certain to continue into the future. It is also worth noting 

that the HEDNA which informed the adopted Local Plan housing requirement figure, 

included an upwards adjustment for economic need.  

8.16 Members will be aware that proposals are currently being developed for both a 

Freeport and a Development Corporation, both of which take in the northern part of 

the district around East Midlands Airport. Whilst these proposals are not yet fully 

developed and nor are they confirmed, they have the potential to be a significant 

economic generator which would create additional employment opportunities. This 

adds further argument in favour of the High2 scenario. 

8.17 Overall, it is considered that the High 2 scenario should be the preferred scenario at 

this time, but that it would also be prudent to maintain the High1 scenario as an 

option until such time as there is more certainty. 

9 WHICH DISTRIBUTION OPTIONS SHOULD BE PREFERED AT THIS STAGE?  

9.1 Having identified the most appropriate growth scenario to take forward, the next 

section of this report considers which of the 16 distribution options are appropriate to 

take forward. In doing so a key consideration is the outcome from the SA, but as 

already noted, it is not the only consideration. A summary of the SA outcomes in 

terms of positives and negative effects is set out under the various options for ease 

of reference. 

9.2 As noted previously, a number of SA Objectives score poorly for most distribution 

options, particularly SA1 (Health), SA2 (Inequalities), SA8 (Sustainable travel), SA11 

(Climate change), SA12 (Bio/geodiversity), SA13 (Landscape/Townscape) and SA14 

(Land Use). Generally, options score positively against SA4 (Housing) and SA6 

(Town centres) whilst half score positively against SA10 (Carbon Emissions). 

Therefore, at this time the SA assessment is not showing significant differences in 

scoring between the various options.  

9.3 For the reasons set out in the previous section, it is considered that neither the Low 

or Medium scenarios represent appropriate scenarios and so Option1 is likewise not 

appropriate to take forward.   

9.4 However, it was concluded that both the High 1 and High 2 scenarios were 

appropriate to take forward at this time. In terms of the remaining distribution options 

(Options 2 -9) these are considered below, in terms of the outcome from the SA but 

also having regard to other considerations.  

High 1 

9.5 Options 4a to 9a all include the New Settlement as an element of the potential 

strategy. The overall potential scale of growth at the New Settlement is estimated to 

52



be about 4,700 dwellings. However, as set out in Table 2, the scale of growth under 

options 4a to 9a is only 350 to 600 dwellings.  On its own such a scale of growth is 

too small to be likely to be viable or to be able to deliver the necessary infrastructure. 

Therefore, they would need to be seen in the context of the New Settlement as a 

longer-term proposal, going well beyond the end of the plan period (2039). The 

revised NPPF specifically recognises that such large-scale developments can form 

part of a strategy but that they should then be set within “a vision that looks further 

ahead (at least 30 years), to take in to account the likely timescale for delivery” 

(paragraph 22).  

9.6 Notwithstanding this recognition in the NPPF, a strategy which sought to defer the 

vast majority of development of a new settlement beyond the plan period does carry 

an element of risk, not least in terms of the long-term commitment that this would 

require from the developer/landowner. It is not known at this time as to whether such 

a proposition would be likely to be supported.  

9.7 On balance, it is considered that having regard to the above that options 4a to 9a 

should not be taken forward under this growth option. 

9.8 This would therefore leave only Options 2a and 3a under the High 1 scenario.  

SA summary 
 
Option2a 
 
2 negative effects - - SA1 (Health) and SA8 (Sustainable travel) 
3 positive effects - SA4 (Housing), SA6 (Town Centres) and SA10 (Carbon 
emissions) 
 
Options 3a  
 
1 significant effect – SA8 (Sustainable travel) 
2 negative effects - SA2 (Inequalities) and SA11 (Climate change)  
3 positive effects - SA4 (Housing), SA6 (Town Centres) and SA10 (Carbon 
emissions) 
 
These two options score virtually the same in terms of the SA assessment, save 
for option 3a scores a significant negative affect against SA8 (Sustainable travel) 
which reflects the fact that under this option growth would be dispersed down to 
Local Service Centres (Ibstock, Kegworth and Measham). The SA assessment 
notes that: 
 
“This [is] due to public transport services being infrequent and there being fairly low 
levels of connectivity in the Local Service Centres, as well as lack of designated 
walkways and cycle paths linking settlements which may discourage sustainable 
travel.” 
 
Whilst the level of public transport provision is not as significant in Local Service 
Centres, it is the case that all are served by services to higher order centres, not 
just those in the district but beyond (e.g. Derby, Leicester, Burton upon Trent and 
Loughborough). Development in these centres would also potentially provide an 
opportunity to enhance walking and cycling provision, something noted in the 
detailed assessment. 
 

53



Similarly, there would be some benefits to the local centres (i.e. shops) of the Local 
Service Centres which would not arise from Option 2a, although this would be 
countered to some degree by fewer benefits for the town centres of Coalville, 
Ashby de la Zouch and Castle Donington if residents were to shop in the Local 
Service Centres. 
Both options score positively against SA4 (Housing).  
 

 

Other considerations  

9.9 Option 2a would result in development being concentrated in a more limited number 

of settlements and hence sites than Option 3a. This would not provide flexibility or 

choice in the housing market and represents a potential risk in terms of deliverability 

and would also provide fewer benefits from a housing perspective.  

9.10 Both Options 2a and 3a would not provide much support for the NPPF advice to 

“identify opportunities for villages to grow and thrive” (paragraph 79), although Option 

3a would provide slightly more opportunities than 2a.  

9.11 Whilst there is not much to choose between Options 2a and 3a, it is considered that 

the concerns about deliverability outlined above and the greater opportunity afforded 

by Option 3a for growth in villages, are such that it is considered that under the High 

1 scenario that only Option 3a should be taken forward.  

High 2  

9.12 Before considering the various options under the High 2 scenario, it is worth 

considering that the identification of land for a further 5,100 dwellings would 

inevitably require the allocation of some significant sites in terms of size, potentially 

including a New Settlement as allowed for in Options 4b, 5b, 6b, 7b, 9b and 8. 

9.13 Large scale development such as a new settlement have the potential to deliver 

significant benefits in terms of new homes but also new infrastructure. However, such 

large schemes take a significant amount of time to bring to fruition. For example, the 

development of South-east Coalville was initially granted planning permission in 2012 

and development did not commence until 2018/19. Similarly, outline permission was 

granted for 605 dwellings as part of the Money Hill development at Ashby de la 

Zouch in in August 2016, but five years later development has yet to commence.  

9.14 Research published by Lichfields (2020) (an established and respected planning 

consultancy firm) confirms the above as they found that large schemes can take 5 or 

more years to start, with sites of 2,000 or more dwellings taking on average 8.4 years 

from validation of the first planning application to the first dwelling being completed.  

Option 2b - Principal Town (3,060 dwellings) and Key Service Centres (2,040 

dwellings)  

SA summary 
 
1 significant negative effect – SA2 (Inequalities) 
2 negative effects – SA1 (Health) and SA8 (Sustainable travel) 
3 positive effects - SA4 (Housing), SA6 (Town centres) and SA10 (Carbon 
emissions).  
 
This option has the least number of significant negative effects of al High 2 options. 

54



Other considerations 

9.15 Whilst Option 2b performs well against the SA, as development is limited to two 

settlement categories and 3 settlements (Coalville, Ashby de la Zouch and Castle 

Donington) this provides little flexibility or choice for the market which is important for 

ensuring sustainable delivery rates. If delivery rates are not sustained, then this 

represents a risk to the 5-year housing land supply which is required to ensure that 

the plan does not become out-of-date. 

9.16 Historically, the housing market in the Coalville area has been weaker than other 

parts of the district. For the period 2011-21 the average build rate in the Coalville 

Urban Area was 180 dwellings. It did rise to 267 dwellings for the period 2016-21. 

Under this option the build rate, allowing for what is already committed for the period 

2020-31 (3,164 dwellings) and what would be required from the additional 

development (3,060 dwellings) would require a build rate of 328 dwellings per 

annum. This is 82% more than was achieved in the last 10 years and 23% in the last 

5 years. Therefore, there are significant doubts about the ability of the market to 

deliver such a scale of growth having regard to recent build rates.  

9.17 The scale of growth is such that it is almost inevitable that some large-scale sites 

would be required. For example, looking at the recently published SHELAA to 

accommodate growth in the Key Service Centres would be likely to require identifying 

a site of 1,400 dwellings west of Castle Donington or 800 dwellings at Packington 

Nook Ashby de la Zouch. As already noted, it takes time for large scale sites such as 

these to begin to deliver.  Again, any slippage in delivery would impact upon the 5-

year housing land supply, and so represents a risk to ensuring that the plan does not 

become out-of-date. 

9.18 Therefore, for the above reasons it is considered that Option 2b should not be taken 

forward.  

Option 3b - Principal Town (2,550 dwellings), Key Service Centres (1,530 dwellings) 

and LSC (1,020 dwellings) 

SA summary 
 
3 significant negative effect – SA1 (Health), SA2 (Inequalities) and SA8 
(Sustainable travel) 
1 negative effect – SA11 (Climate change)  
3 positive effects - SA4 (Housing), SA6 (Town centres) and SA10 (Carbon 
emissions).  
 
Overall, this option performs better than 4b but not as well a 2b. 

 

Other considerations 

9.19 Under Option 3b, growth would be more spread out than option 2b with growth at 3 

settlement categories and 6 settlements (Coalville, Ashby de la Zouch, Castle 

Donington, Ibstock, Kegworth and Measham) and so concerns about over 

concentration in a limited number of areas is less relevant.  

9.20 However, the scale of growth in Coalville under this option (2,550 dwellings) is a 

cause for concern having regard to recent build rates, similar to option 2b.  Under this 

option the build rate in Coalville, allowing for what is already committed for the period 

55



2020-31 (3,164 dwellings) and what would be required form the additional 

development (2,550 dwellings) would require a build rate of 301 dwellings per 

annum. This is 67% more than was achieved in the last 10 years and 13% in the last 

5 years. So once again there are significant doubts about the ability of the market to 

deliver such a scale of growth in Coalville having regard to recent build rates.  

9.21 Therefore, for the above reasons it is considered that Option 3b should not be taken 

forward. 

Option 4b - Principal Town (2,040 dwellings) and New Settlement (3,060 dwellings) 

SA summary 
 
4 significant negative effect –SA2 (Inequalities), SA12 (Bio/geodiversity), SA13 
(Landscape/Townscape) and SA14 (Land Use) 
2 negative effect – SA6 (Town Centres) and SA11 (Climate change)  
2 positive effects - SA4 (Housing) and SA10 (Carbon emissions).  
 
Overall, this option performs similar to other options, particularly in terms of the 
significant negative effects 
 

 

Other considerations 

9.22 This option raises questions regarding the deliverability of the new settlement 

element of this option (3,060 dwellings up to 2039). As noted above, large scale 

development such as a new settlement take a significant amount of time to bring to 

fruition.  

9.23 If a new settlement was included as part of the Local Plan and this was adopted in 

2023 with planning permission being granted simultaneously (which is unlikely) and 

assuming it took 5-years for development to start and a build rate of 250 dwellings 

per annum (which may be optimistic as the research from Lichfields referred to above 

found that sites of 2,000 or more dwellings had an average build rate of 160 

dwellings per annum) then between 2028 and 2039 only 2,750 dwellings would be 

built. This would be short of the number of new homes required under this option. 

9.24 Whilst it would be possible to adjust the figures in this Option (i.e. reduce the 

anticipated number from the new settlement and increase those anticipated from the 

Principal Town), it is focussed in just two settlement categories (Principal Town and 

New Settlement) which provides little flexibility or choice for the market which is 

important for ensuring sustainable delivery rates. If delivery rates are not sustained, 

then this represents a risk to the 5-year housing land supply which is required to 

ensure that the plan does not become out-of-date. 

9.25 In addition, concentrating too much development within a small area, such as the 

Principal Town (i.e. Coalville), represents a potential risk in terms of the ability of the 

market to deliver, which has already been noted is a test of a plan being ’sound’. 

9.26 Therefore, it is considered that Option 4b should not be taken forward.  

 

 

56



Option 5b - Principal Town (2,295 dwellings), New Settlement (2,295 dwellings) and 

KSC (510 dwellings) 

SA summary 
 
6 significant negative effect –SA2 (Inequalities, SA8 (Sustainable travel), SA11 
(Climate change), SA12 (Bio/geodiversity), SA13 (Landscape/Townscape) and 
SA14 (Land Use) 
1 negative effect – SA1 (Health)  
2 positive effects - SA4 (Housing) and SA6 (Town Centres) 
 
This option has more significant negative effects than any of the other options 
under the High 2 growth scenario 
 

 

Other considerations  

9.27 Growth would be more spread out than options 2b and 4b, but not as well spread out 

as Option 3b as it would be concentrated in 4 settlements (Coalville, new settlement, 

Ashby de la Zouch and Castle Donington) compared to 6.  

9.28 The scale of growth in Coalville is not much less than Option 3b (2,295 dwellings 

compared to 2,550 dwellings). Under this option the build rate, allowing for what is 

already committed for the period 2020-31 (3,164 dwellings) and what would be 

required form the additional development (2,295 dwellings) would require a build rate 

of 287 dwellings per annum. This is 59% more than was achieved in the last 10 years 

and 8% in the last 5 years. So once again there are doubts about the ability of the 

market to deliver such a scale of growth in Coalville having regard to build rates, 

particularly over the longer 10-year period.  

9.29 Deliverability of the New Settlement is potentially of less concern than Option 4b, but 

there is not much flexibility for slippage.  

9.30 In view of the number of significant negative effects and the concern regarding 

deliverability, it is considered that Option 5b should not be taken forward. 

Option 6b- Principal Town (1,785 dwellings), New Settlement (1,785 dwellings), KSC 

(1,020 dwellings) and LSC (510 dwellings) 

Option 7b - Principal Town (1,785 dwellings), New Settlement (1,785 dwellings), KSC 

(765 dwellings), LSC (510 dwellings) and Sustainable Villages (255 dwellings)  

Option 9b - Principal Town (1,020 dwellings), New Settlement (1,785 dwellings), KSC 

(459 dwellings), LSC (255 dwellings), Sustainable Villages (1,377 dwellings) and 

Small Villages (204 dwellings) 

SA summary 
 
These options are considered together in view of the fact that their scores are very 
similar.  
 
Option 6b  
 
3 significant negative effects - SA11(Climate Change), SA12 (Bio/geodiversity) and 
SA13 (Landscape/Townscape) 

57



2 negative effects – SA1 (Health and SA8 (Sustainable travel) 
1 positive effect – SA4 (Housing) 
 
Option 7b 
 
5 significant negative effects – SA2 (Inequalities), SA11(Climate Change), SA12 
(Bio/geodiversity) and SA13 (Landscape/Townscape) and SA14 (Land use) 
2 negative effects - SA1 (Health) and SA8 (Sustainable travel) 
2 significant positive effects – SA4 (Housing) and SA6 (Town Centres) 
 
Option 9b 
5 significant negative effect - SA2 (Inequalities), SA11(Climate Change), SA12 
(Bio/geodiversity) and SA13 (Landscape/Townscape) and SA14 (Land use) 
2 negative effects – SA6 (Town Centres) and SA8 (Sustainable travel) 
1 significant positive effect – SA4 Housing  
 
With the exception of options 1, 2a and 3a, option 6b has the least number of 
significant negative scores (3) all of which are common to the majority of options.  
 
In terms of Option 7b, only option 8 has more significant positive scores (3).  
 
The SA Report comments  that in respect of SA4, which is concerned with 
Housing, that Option 7b  “SA4 (good quality homes to meet local needs) has been 
identified as a potential significant positive as under this option development is 
spread across the entire District rather than in a limited number of locations, 
ensuring that there is an increase in the number and mix of housing whilst also 
providing an element of affordable housing to meet the needs of the population, 
particularly at this higher quantum of growth”. Similar wording is used in respect of 
option 9b. 
In effect, both options 7b and 9b would benefit local communities as they would 
provide opportunities for people to remain in their local community whilst moving 
on to or up the housing ladder. 
 

 

Other considerations  

9.31 Option 6b results in the least dispersed pattern of development and would only be 

concentrated in Local Service Centres and above (including a new settlement). This 

would leave a significant number of settlements without any development, potentially 

to the detriment of those services and facilities in these settlements which rely upon 

regular customers. Such an approach would not sit comfortably with the NPPF 

(paragraph 79) which seeks to ensure that “Planning policies should identify 

opportunities for villages to grow and thrive, especially where this will support local 

services”. Conversely, the pressure upon services and facilities in the higher order 

centres would be much greater.  

9.32 In contrast, Option 7b would include development in sustainable villages whilst option 

9b would also include development in small villages. Option 7b would, with the 

exception a new settlement, represent a continuation of the strategy in the adopted 

Local Plan; a strategy which has a demonstrable strong delivery record.  

9.33 Option 9b would represent a significant departure from the current strategy as it 

would focus more development on the lower order settlements where there are fewer 

service and facilities (as identified in another report on the agenda regarding the 

58



Settlement Hierarchy). It would have the potential to provide a significant number of 

smaller sites which could benefit small and medium sized developers, something 

which the NPPF requires Local Plans to support.  However, option 7b would 

potentially also provide such opportunities, albeit perhaps not to the same extent, as 

it would include development in Sustainable Villages.  Option 6b would be likely to 

provide a more limited number of opportunities in this respect.  

9.34 Having a greater number of sites in a greater number of locations as in options 7b 

and 9b would also represent less of a risk in terms of deliverability.  

9.35 On balance, it is considered that whilst Option 6b scores well from an SA 

perspective, the fact that it would result in development being concentrated in a more 

limited number of settlements and hence sites, it represents something of a risk in 

terms of deliverability. In addition, it would also provide less benefits from a housing 

perspective means that it should not be taken forward. 

9.36 This leaves options 7b and 9b. In SA terms they score virtually the same, although 

7b would potentially provide greater benefit to existing town and local centres (SA4).  

9.37 The NPPF is clear that “all plans should promote a sustainable pattern of 

development that seeks to: meet the development needs of their area; align growth 

and infrastructure; improve the environment; mitigate climate change (including by 

making effective use of land in urban areas) and adapt to its effects”. 

9.38 Whilst Option 9b would satisfy the requirements of paragraph 79 of the NPPF 

regarding promoting development in villages, it would result in a less sustainable 

pattern of development than option 7b as it would put more development in those 

settlements with fewer services and facilities. In particular, the Small Villages (or 

Local Housing Needs Villages) have very limited services and facilities compared to 

other more sustainable settlements, including more limited access to public transport, 

meaning that people would need to use cars on a regular basis. This would conflict 

with the aims of national policy to address climate change related issues. The 

proposed settlement hierarchy considered in item xx of this meeting would support 

some small-scale development in the lowest order settlements, provided it was to 

meet a local need.  

9.39 Therefore, it is recommended that neither Option 6b or 9b be taken forward and that 

Option 7b be the preferred option under the High 2 growth scenario. 

Option 8 – New Settlement (5,100 dwellings) 

9.40 Under this option all new housing development (other than existing commitments) 

would be focussed on a single new settlement. This option performs well under the 

SA assessment with more positive scores than any other option (6) of which 3 are 

judged to be ‘significant positive effects’.  

9.41 This strategy would be unlikely to satisfy the NPPF requirement regarding 

deliverability. This is because it offers no flexibility in the event that for whatever 

reason development did not proceed as envisaged and so would be a very high-risk 

approach. It would also conflict with the NPPF which states that “it is important that a 

sufficient amount and variety of land can come forward where it is needed [emphasis 

added]” (NPPF paragraph 60). 

9.42 The NPPF requires (paragraph 73d) that assumptions about delivery rates need to 

be realistic when planning new settlements (or significant extensions to settlements). 

59



Having regard to the comments made at the beginning of this section regarding the 

time taken for new large-scale development to come to fruition, deliverability of 5,100 

dwellings by 2039 at the new settlement would be unrealistic.  

9.43 As noted under Option 4b allowing for the grant of planning permission and build rate 

of 250 dwellings per annum, only 2,750 dwellings would be built by 2039. This would 

only just be just over half of the number of new homes required. 

9.44 Therefore, it is considered that Option 8 should not be taken forward.  

Overall conclusion regarding distribution options 

9.45 Having regard to a combination of the outcome from the SA and also other factors, it 

is considered that under the High 1 scenario Option 3a should be the preferred 

option at this stage whilst under the High 2 scenario Option 7b should be the 

preferred option at this stage. These are summarised below.  

Table 4 - options to be taken forward  

Option 
No  

Description  

High 1 scenario (1,000 dwellings) 

Option 
3a 

Principal Town (500 dwellings), Key Service Centres (300 
dwellings) and Local Service Centres (LSC) (200 dwellings) 

High 2 scenario (5,100 dwellings) 

Option 
7b 

Principal Town (1,785 dwellings), New Settlement (1,785 
dwellings), KSC (765 dwellings), LSC (510 dwellings) and 
Sustainable Villages (255 dwellings) 

 

9.46 In terms of a New Settlement, the scale of development is such that this this would 

go beyond plan period. The recently revised NPPF recognises that the strategy for 

an area could include such sites subject to being set within a vision that looks further 

ahead. Guidance is currently awaited from government of this, but this recent change 

to the NPPF would support a new settlement as part of the district’s strategy. 

10 SUMMARY 

10.1 There remains uncertainty regarding the scale of new housing that needs to be 

provided for as part of the Local Plan Substantive Review. Whilst all of the Leicester 

and Leicestershire authorities are working together to address the issue of 

redistribution of unmet need from Leicester City, this will take some time to be 

finalised. In view of the challenging timetable for the review the Council cannot afford 

to wait until the redistribution issue has been addressed.  

10.2 For the reasons outlined in section 8 of this report, it is considered that at this time 

two potential growth scenarios should remain on the table: High 1 and High 2. It is 

highly unlikely that the redistribution work will result in figures which match these two 

scenarios exactly, but as they result in very different requirements it is hoped that 

they will provide sufficient flexibility to enable the local plan to be further developed.  

10.3 Through the Sustainability Appraisal 16 different options have been assessed for 

how new development might be distributed across the district to ensure that all 

‘reasonable alternatives’ are considered as part of the plan making process. For the 

reasons outlined in section 9 of this report, it is considered that under the High 1 

60



scenario distribution option 3a should be taken forward whilst under the High 2 

scenario distribution option 7b should be taken forward.  

10.4 The distribution options have had various levels of growth assigned to the different 

settlement categories. These numbers were to provide a means of assessing the 

sustainability credentials of the different options, but they are not set in stone. As 

work on the review progresses the distribution will be refined further. 

11 NEXT STEPS 

11.1 Subject to the recommendations of this report being agreed, it is proposed that a 

report be taken to the meeting of Cabinet on 7 December 2021 to seek their backing 

for the recommendations. It is then proposed that consultation in the New Year be 

undertaken with stakeholders on the proposed direction of travel. This would identify 

the preferred growth and distribution options as proposed in this report but would 

also seeks views on the other scenarios and options to provide an opportunity to 

inform a final decision.  

11.2 In addition to the above, the consultation would also include a number of other issues 

which have been discussed at previous meetings of this committee. In particular, it 

will include consultation on the following: 

 objectives; 

 housing standards; 

 health and wellbeing; 

 climate change issues; 

 self and custom build; 

 settlement hierarchy; 

 employment matters 

 Town centres  

 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 
 

- Our communities are safe, healthy and 
connected  

- Local people live in high quality, affordable 
homes  

- Developing a clean and green district 

Policy Considerations: 
 

None 

Safeguarding: 
 

None discernible 

Equalities/Diversity: 
 

The Local Plan Review as an entity will be subject 
to an Equalities Impact Assessment. 

Customer Impact: 
 

None specific 

Economic and Social Impact:  
 

The decision, of itself, will have no specific impact. 
The Substantive Local Plan Review as a whole will 
Aim to deliver positive economic and social 
impacts and these will be recorded through the 
Sustainability Appraisal.  

Environment and Climate Change: 
 

The decision, of itself, will have no specific impact. 
The Substantive Local Plan Review as a whole will 

61



Aim to deliver positive environmental and climate 
change benefits and these will be recorded through 
the Sustainability Appraisal. 

Consultation/Community 
Engagement: 
 

In due course the planning policy considerations 
outlined in the report will be incorporated in a 
consultation document for the Substantive Local 
Plan Review. The consultation arrangements will 
be governed by requirements in the Statement of 
Community Involvement 

Risks: 
 

A risk assessment for the Local Plan Review has 
been prepared and is kept up to date. As far as 
possible control measures have been put in place 
to minimise risks, including regular Project Board 
meetings where risk is reviewed. 

Officer Contact 
 

Ian Nelson 
Planning Policy and Land Charges Team Manager 
01530 454677 
ian.nelson@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

62

mailto:ian.nelson@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


APPENDIX A 

SUSTAINABILITY OBJECTIVES  

 

SA1 Improve the health and wellbeing of the District’s population. 

SA2 Reduce inequalities and ensure fair and equal access and opportunities for all residents 

SA3 Help create the conditions for communities to thrive. 

SA4 Provide good quality homes that meet local needs in terms of number, type and tenure 

in locations where it can deliver the greatest benefits and sustainable access to services and 

jobs.  

SA5 Support economic growth throughout the District 

SA6 Enhance the vitality and viability of existing town centres and village centres. 

SA7 Provision of a diverse range of employment opportunities that match the skills and 

needs of local residents 

SA8 Reduce the need to travel and increase numbers of people walking, cycling or using the 

bus for their day-to-day travel needs. 

SA9 Reduce air, light and noise pollution to avoid damage to natural systems and protect 

human health. 

SA10 Reduce carbon emissions throughout the District. 

SA11 Ensure the District is resilient to the impacts of climate change. 

SA12 Protect and enhance the District’s biodiversity and protect areas identified for their 

nature conservation and geological importance. 

SA13 Conserve and enhance the quality of the District’s landscape and townscape 

character. 

SA14 Ensure land is used efficiently and effectively. 

SA15 Conserve and enhance the character, diversity and local distinctiveness of the 

District’s built and historic heritage. 

SA16 Protect water resources and ensure they are used efficiently. 

SA17 Ensure the efficient use of natural resources, including reducing waste generation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

63



 

APPENDIX B 

ADOPTED LOCAL PLAN – SETTLEMENT HIERACHY 

 

Settlement Classification Settlement(s) 

Principal Town  

The primary settlement in the district which 

provides an extensive range of services and 

facilities including employment, leisure and 

shopping and which is accessible by sustainable 

transport from surrounding areas and to other 

large settlements outside the district. The largest 

amount of new development will be directed here, 

including retail development, to support the 

regeneration of Coalville Town Centre. 

 

Coalville Urban Area 

which comprises of 

Coalville, Donington-

le-Heath, Greenhill, 

Hugglescote, 

Snibston, Thringstone 

and Whitwick as well 

as the Bardon 

employment area. 

Key Service Centre 

Smaller than the Principal Town in terms of 

population and also the range of services and 

facilities they provide, they play an important role 

providing services and facilities to the 

surrounding area and are accessible by some 

sustainable transport.  A significant amount of 

development will take place in these settlements 

but less than that in the Principal Town. 

 

Ashby de la Zouch  

Castle Donington  

Local Service Centre 

Settlements which provide some services and 

facilities primarily of a local nature meeting day-

to-day needs and where a reasonable amount of 

new development will take place. 

 

Ibstock 

Kegworth 

Measham 

Sustainable Villages 

Settlements which have a limited range of 

services and facilities where a limited amount of 

growth will take place within the defined Limits to 

Development. 

Albert Village, 

Appleby Magna, 

Belton, Blackfordby, 

Breedon on the Hill, 

Coleorton (the Lower 

Moor Road area only), 

Diseworth, 

Donisthorpe, 

Ellistown, Heather, 

Long Whatton, Moira 

(including Norris Hill), 

64



Oakthorpe, 

Packington, 

Ravenstone, 

Swannington, 

Worthington. 

Small Village 

Settlements with very limited services and where 

development will be restricted to conversions of 

existing buildings or the redevelopment of 

previously developed land (as defined in the 

National Planning Policy Framework) or affordable 

housing in accordance with Policy H5 (Rural 

Exceptions Sites for Affordable Housing).  

 

 

Battram, Coleorton 

(the part not 

considered to be a 

Sustainable Village), 

Griffydam, 

Hemington, 

Lockington, Lount, 

Newbold, Newton 

Burgoland, 

Osgathorpe, Peggs 

Green, Sinope, 

Snarestone, 

Swepstone, Spring 

Cottage, Tonge, 

Wilson. 

Hamlets 

Small groups of dwellings with no services and 

facilities and where development will be 

considered in the context of the countryside 

policy (Policy S3). 

 

 

 

65



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Review of Settlement Hierarchy
	Appendix B
	APPENDIX C

	6 Development Strategy

